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Clover is the brand leader in the dairy

spreads sector.

Dairy Crest is the leading supplier of mature

cheddar in the UK. Cathedral City is the

biggest brand in the natural cheese market.

Frijj is the brand leader in the fresh

flavoured milk drinks market.

Growing leading market positions

Dairy Crest’s strategic objective is to deliver attractive shareholder 
value by establishing it as the leading branded and added value 
UK dairy company with efficient manufacturing scale for 
dairy commodities.
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Financial highlights

• Adjusted profit before tax up 29% to £57.0 million (2000 – £44.3 million)
• Adjusted earnings per share up 22% to 35.4 pence (2000 – 29.1 pence)
• Final dividend declared of 9.6 pence – total for the year up 8% to 14.1 pence (2000 – 13.0 pence)
• Strong cash flow from operating activities of £106.6 million 
• Synergies from Unigate acquisition on target
• £54 million being invested in two new ‘super dairies’
• Strong growth by added value products

Dairy Crest is the leading UK producer of

dairy ingredients such as butter, skimmed

milk powder and whey based products.

Dairy Crest is a leading supplier of retail

liquid milk and doorstep deliveries in

Southern England.

The company is a leading supplier of fresh

dairy products through the Yoplait Dairy

Crest joint venture, with its brands Petits

Filous and Frubes.
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I am pleased to have become the
Chairman at such an exciting time 
in the Group’s history. Dairy Crest
continues to benefit from its ongoing
strategy to add value, build brands and
pursue competitive advantage in
commodity sectors. The successful
acquisition and integration of Unigate’s
dairy and cheese business has
transformed Dairy Crest. In particular,
we have now established the platform
from which we can build the industry’s
most efficient liquid milk operations
and thereby secure long term growth
and a satisfactory financial return.

This is a good, strong set of results
delivering an attractive increase in both
adjusted Group profit before tax and
adjusted earnings per share. The
Group’s adjusted profit before tax was
£57.0 million compared with £44.3
million last year. Adjusted earnings 
per share increased to 35.4 pence from
29.1 pence. The directors recommend
a final dividend of 9.6 pence making
total dividends for the year 14.1 pence,
an increase of over 8% which I believe
will be welcomed by shareholders.

As the UK’s largest buyer of raw
milk the Group retains great flexibility
to meet its commercial and financial
objectives by prioritising the available
raw milk supply across its wide
product range. This carefully
developed position has been valuable
in the year to March 2001, when the
raw milk supply has been disrupted by
continued poor weather and the
outbreak of foot and mouth disease.
Dairy Crest is particularly well placed
to deal with the industry uncertainties
in sourcing raw milk over the coming

twelve months. We fully understand
the difficulties encountered by dairy
farmers and are actively seeking to
build a secure future for the dairy
industry and we are enjoying an
increasingly positive dialogue with
those milk producer representatives
who share our view that discussion and
co-operation is the way ahead. 

The integration of Unigate’s dairy
and cheese business has been achieved
successfully to a very demanding
timescale. I have been impressed by the
vision and hard work shown by the
two teams as they have come together
to restructure the combined business. 
I have appreciated the commitment
shown by the staff during the year to
tackle this important challenge. 

Dairy Crest continues to make
substantial investments to ensure that
our manufacturing and distribution
operations are highly efficient and able
to compete effectively with domestic
and international competitors. The
Group also continues to invest heavily
in the development of added value
dairy products, which we firmly believe
will provide the best return for our
Company and ensure fair returns for
milk producers. We have implemented
significant price increases to raw milk
suppliers since October 2000 which
were justified by increases in selling
prices for dairy products in the market. 

I would like to thank my colleague
Richard Fletcher for his contribution
to Dairy Crest’s progress. Richard will
be retiring as a non-executive director
at the AGM in July. 

Our staff have worked hard
throughout the year in achieving these

good results. This hard work and
commitment at all levels has been
greatly appreciated. I believe that 
we now have in place a strong
management team who can be relied
upon to drive the business forward 
to achieve its full potential.

S M D Oliver, Chairman
4 June 2001

Chairman’s statement

Optimising growth
potential of added
value business

2 Dairy Crest Annual Report 2001

“I firmly believe that following the acquisition

of Unigate’s dairy and cheese business Dairy

Crest is well placed to optimise its position

as the UK’s leading dairy company.” 
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I am pleased to report a considerable
increase in the Group’s results, with Dairy
Crest benefiting from the completion of
the Unigate dairy and cheese acquisition,
strong progress by our leading brands
and added value business and the
determination and commitment of a
strong management team. The results
show a 29% increase in adjusted
Group profit before tax (before operating
exceptional items and goodwill
amortisation) and a 22% increase 
in adjusted earnings per share. 

I am also pleased to confirm that
we are on target to achieve the
identified £11 million synergies in
2001/02 and the annual £25 million
from 2002/03 identified at the time 
of the acquisition. 

Our strategy to establish Dairy
Crest as the UK’s leading branded and
added value dairy company, whilst being
the lowest cost operator in commodity
processing, continues to generate
attractive growth and provides confidence
for future development. During the
year the Group’s brands, Clover,
Cathedral City, Frijj and the Yoplait
brands have all strengthened their
position as leading brands performing
ahead of their market sectors.

The operating financial results for
the year to March 2001 reflect the
material impact of the acquisition of
Unigate’s dairy and cheese business in
July 2000. Group turnover, including
the share of the joint ventures' turnover,
has increased by 65% to £1.3 billion
and Group operating profit, before
operating exceptional items and goodwill
amortisation, has increased by 57% to
£73.8 million. 

The Group’s adjusted profit before
tax was £57.0 million compared with
£44.3 million last year and adjusted
earnings per share increased to 35.4
pence from 29.1 pence. The directors
recommend a final dividend of 9.6
pence increasing the total dividend for
the year by over 8% to 14.1 pence.

The acquisition of Unigate’s dairy
and cheese business has enabled Dairy
Crest to pursue aggressively its objective
to achieve sustainable competitive
advantage and industry leading efficiency
standards across its operations. Our
commitment to achieve the highest
levels of efficiency is underlined by our
£54 million investment to create what
we believe will be the two largest and
most efficient ‘super dairies’ in the UK,
at Severnside (£39 million) and
Chadwell Heath (£15 million).

The breadth of Dairy Crest’s
activities has been fundamental to
helping the Group deliver these results
against a backdrop where the dairy
sector has seen the impact of excess
competitive capacity in liquid milk 
as the industry enters the final phase 
of reconstruction. Inevitably trading
conditions in individual markets
become increasingly challenging, 
but our confidence in the business 
is underpinned by the fact that Dairy
Crest is a broadly based dairy company
with leading positions in every dairy
sector – cheese, fresh dairy products,
ingredients, liquid milk and spreads –
and has important partnerships with
all major retailers.

The year 2000/01 has been the
first year since industry deregulation
that the UK raw milk production has

been below quota. Appreciating the
considerable difficulties this has brought
to dairy farmers and acknowledging
the critical role that milk producers
have to play to help to deliver a
profitable and healthy future for the
industry, prices to farmers have
increased significantly since October
2000. We are working increasingly
closely with our direct milk producers
and the leading dairy co-ops to
identify areas such as the reduction in
milk collection costs, which will help to
deliver much needed enhanced returns.
As a result of recent difficulties, we
anticipate that milk supply in 2001/02
may again fall short of quota. However,
we believe Dairy Crest will secure
sufficient milk to serve its customers in
its chosen markets as well as deliver its
financial objectives. 

Prospects
Our leading brands continue to
perform well and we derive material
competitive advantage from our
position as the UK’s only broadly based
dairy company. The synergies arising
from the Unigate acquisition are being
delivered in full and on time. We have
made a good start to the year and we
remain confident that Dairy Crest will
continue to deliver the expected
attractive financial performance
necessary to drive enhanced
shareholder returns.

W J Houliston, Chief Executive
4 June 2001

Chief executive’s review

“We are confident that our brands and

added value business will continue to

demonstrate attractive growth.The

acquisition of Unigate’s dairy and cheese

business underpins our added value

strategy and provides the opportunity to

increase shareholder returns.” 
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The Consumer Foods division
reflects Dairy Crest’s business
with retailers including our share
of the Yoplait Dairy Crest and
Cotteswold joint ventures.This
division has continued to benefit
from the ongoing growth of Dairy
Crest’s branded and added value
business as well as the inclusion 
of the acquired cheese, packet
butter, retail liquid milk, cream
and juice businesses for nine
months of the year.

Turnover increased by 59%

from £494 million to £785 million.
Operating profit increased by 25%
from £32.6 million to £40.8 million
and Consumer Foods operating
margin was 5.2% for the year.The
reduction in margin resulted from
the inclusion of Unigate’s retail
liquid milk operations whose
margin was below that achieved
by Dairy Crest’s existing Consumer
Foods businesses. However, we
expect the margin to increase 
as the synergy benefits are
progressively realised.

Dairy spreads
The dairy spreads sector is worth some
£200 million and represents just under
a quarter of the total butter and 
spreads market of around £920
million. Clover strengthened its
position as the leading brand in the
sector despite vigorous competitive
pressures. The brand benefited from the
continued investment in marketing and
promotional activity to generate another
impressive financial performance.

Willow maintained its improved
position following the successful
relaunch at the start of the previous
year and further increased its brand

share during 2000/01. The acquired
packet butter operations include
Unigate’s share of Country Life, the
leading UK manufactured butter
brand. We believe this provides Dairy
Crest with good opportunities to
develop the potential of the brand’s
premium position in the competitive
retail packet butter market. Country
Life Spreadable has now achieved 
wide distribution and is developing 
its position in the rapidly growing
spreadable butter sector, which is now
valued at just over £100 million.

In January 2001 we announced
our intention to create a centre of
excellence for the production of Dairy
Crest’s range of retail dairy spreads,
packet and speciality butters at our
facility in Crudgington, Shropshire.
The relocation of packet butter
production from Chard, Somerset, 
was completed in April 2001.

We are pleased with the robust
performance achieved by the brands
during the year and are encouraged 
by the effectiveness of the marketing
programme. This helped to ensure the
spreads business continued to provide 
a significant contribution to Dairy
Crest’s overall financial performance.

Operational review
Consumer Foods

4 Dairy Crest Annual Report 2001

Willow is ideal for spreading, cooking 

and baking.

Country Life confirmed its position as a

leading brand with the launch of Country

Life Spreadable.The Country Life brand is

the registered trade mark of the English

Butter Marketing Company Limited.

taste good

Making brand loyalty
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loved all over
Clover’s continued investment in its

successful TV campaign ensured that more

families now enjoy the taste of the UK's

leading dairy spread brand.
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Cheese
Dairy Crest’s leading cheddar brands,
Cathedral City and Davidstow,
achieved outstanding progress with
combined annual sales volume 
ahead by over 20%. During the year, 
a successful media campaign for
Cathedral City brought encouraging
consumer results focused on building
prepack sales volume which increased
by around 50%. The Davidstow brand
also benefited from an enhanced
promotional programme, which
generated substantial volume uplift,
and sales of prepack Davidstow
increased by over 60%.

During the year the retail cheese
market showed a volume increase 
of around 1.5%. The shortfall in raw
milk reduced the availability of UK
produced cheese stock and resulted 
in firmer selling prices in the second
half of the financial year.

The addition of the Wexford brand
of cheese, produced in Ireland, has
increased the mature cheddar portfolio
and we believe that it has considerable
development potential. The integration
plan was developed to utilise our
processing and prepacking facilities
more effectively and to enhance Dairy
Crest’s standards of quality, service 
and efficiency. In November 2000, 
we announced a reduction in surplus
cheese manufacturing capacity with 
the closure of two small cheese
manufacturing plants at Fermanagh 

in Northern Ireland and Sturminster
Newton in Dorset, which was
completed by December 2000. 

Over recent years, Dairy Crest has
invested over £10 million at Maelor,
Wrexham to develop what we believe
to be the largest and most advanced
cheese prepacking centre in the UK.
This investment enables us to
consolidate prepacking production 
at Maelor and Frome, Somerset. As a
result the Carmarthen cheese prepack
facility will be closed by October 2001.

During the year Dairy Crest
completed a £10 million development
to expand its Stilton and blue cheese
manufacturing capacity at Hartington,
Derbyshire. Following this major
investment, Hartington is now the
largest blue cheese manufacturing site
in the UK. We supply around half of
the Stilton market and have a growing
business supplying cheese with
additives. The completion of the
investment resulted in the closure 
of the Harby Stilton plant in
Leicestershire in April 2001.

We believe there are considerable
opportunities to expand the branded
and added value cheese sectors which
offer attractive returns. We are
determined to develop our position 
as the UK’s leading cheese supplier 
and believe we are particularly well
placed to drive additional growth 
from this market. 

Operational review continued

6 Dairy Crest Annual Report 2001
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best bit

Over 4.5 million households have bought

Cathedral City in the past year.
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Fresh dairy products
The Yoplait Dairy Crest joint venture
faced a challenging market environment
during the year. The company’s
investment to support the branded
range of fresh dairy products generated
valuable benefit, with the Yoplait brands
achieving another year of strong growth.
Branded volumes increased by over 
25% against a market which showed 
a volume increase of around 7%. 

Yoplait Dairy Crest is the leading
supplier to the children’s sector where
additional gains increased its sector
share above 30%. There were
particularly strong performances by the
Petits Filous range, including Frubes,
and from the introduction of the
Pokémon range of yogurt and fromage

frais for children. In the adult categories,
the Weight Watchers from Heinz range 
of products enjoyed another year of
strong growth.

However, market conditions in 
the retailer branded sector have been
extremely demanding. In response 
to the pressures created by excess
processing capacity in the UK and
Europe, Yoplait Dairy Crest closed 
its Wantage facility in October 2000. 

Yoplait Dairy Crest’s financial
performance reflects the impact of the
highly competitive retailer branded
sector which more than offset the
strong performance of the branded
business. Dairy Crest’s share of the
joint venture’s sales reduced by 4% 
to £74 million and operating profit

declined by £1.9 million to £3.8 million.
We are disappointed at the current

financial returns available for Yoplait
Dairy Crest from the fresh dairy
products market. The trading pressures
in the retailer branded sector are clearly
diluting the ongoing strong growth of
the Yoplait brands. The business will
continue to mitigate the impact of this
pressure by seeking increased operating
efficiency and reduced costs within the
business. However, we believe that the
fresh dairy products market continues
to offer excellent growth prospects 
and that Yoplait Dairy Crest’s broad
portfolio of branded and added 
value fresh dairy products provides
confidence that the financial results
will improve in the medium term.

Operational review continued
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Yoplait Dairy Crest continues to focus

on product development and innovation.

January saw the launch of Yoplait Best 

there is! This luxurious low fat yogurt 

with large fruit chunks and whole fruit, sets 

a new standard in adult premium yogurts.
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the hot favourite

Frijj has maintained its position as the clear

number one in the fresh flavoured milk

market, helped by the successful introduction

of the Frijj one litre bottle and development

of the Frijj Extreme variants which helped

grow the market more than any other

brand or activity last year.
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Doubling our energies in production

The UK retail grocery market for 

liquid milk is estimated to be worth 

£1 billion of retail value.
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Liquid products
For many years the retail liquid milk
sector in England and Wales has been
characterised by an excess of production
capacity, numerous suppliers competing
for key multiple retail contracts and
comparatively low financial returns.
During the year the multiple retail
sector sales volumes increased by just
over 1% and now represents around
58% of the fresh liquid milk market.

Against this background, the
acquisition of Unigate’s retail liquid
milk business was a significant move
towards achieving necessary industry
consolidation. The acquisition more
than doubled Dairy Crest’s existing
retail liquid milk activities. 

In November 2000 and January
2001 we set out the detailed investment
and integration plans to position the
business as the long term market leader
in the retail liquid milk sector.  

Dairy Crest is investing £15 million
at Chadwell Heath in London and £39
million at Severnside in Gloucestershire
to create two ‘super dairies’ which will
provide industry leading standards for
efficiency, cost and service. They will 
be the largest and most efficient in the
UK, giving Dairy Crest a position of
competitive advantage which it has not

previously enjoyed. Chadwell Heath will
be fully operational by November 2001
and Severnside will be completed by
September 2002. This transformation 
is being achieved without a material
expansion in overall processing capacity
or the need to gain additional volume.  

The process of creating two ‘super
dairies’ will result in the transfer of
production from four smaller
processing plants at Kidlington in
Oxfordshire, Marshfield in South
Glamorgan, Thornbury in South
Gloucestershire and Westway in
London. Chadwell Heath and
Severnside are both capable of further
expansion at a future date if market
conditions justify additional
investment.

Dairy Crest continues to invest 
to secure added value opportunities 
in the retail liquid milk market. In
March 2001 Dairy Crest completed its
£2.8 million acquisition of Somerset 
& Wilts Dairy Limited. This
acquisition gives Dairy Crest a 40%
share of the attractive organic fresh
milk sector which enjoys premium pricing
and grew by around 50% in the year.

Frijj, Dairy Crest’s market leading
fresh flavoured milk drink brand
produced another strong performance

supported by an effective marketing
programme. Frijj remains the leading
brand with over 70% of the fresh
flavoured milk drink market, valued 
at around £30 million. Frijj Extreme
showed strong volume growth in the
year and, together with the successful
introduction of the new one litre bottle,
helped to drive Frijj volumes ahead by
some 24% during the year against a
market which increased by around 7%.

The acquisition of Unigate’s liquid
milk business has given Dairy Crest the
opportunity to develop an operational
capability which gives it genuine
competitive advantage. The completion
of the two ‘super dairies’ at Chadwell
Heath and Severnside, supported by
investment at Totnes and Fenstanton,
will give Dairy Crest the platform to
secure its position as the country’s
leading supplier of milk to multiples 
in England and Wales. There has been
considerable progress towards industry
consolidation over recent years.
However until this process is completed,
trading conditions will remain very
challenging. We are now confident 
that our business can be successfully
managed to deliver long term growth
and that, over time, financial returns
will be satisfactory.

Dairy Crest's Farm Services team works 

very closely with producers to ensure 

that our customers receive the best 

quality milk in the UK.
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The Food Services division includes
Dairy Crest’s household milk
business and ingredients operations.
This division has been greatly
affected by the Unigate acquisition.
The Unigate household business
was around twice the size of the
existing Dairy Crest operation
and the ingredients business was
around half the size of Dairy
Crest’s operation.

Turnover increased by 74% to
£522 million. Operating profit
more than doubled from £14.5
million to £33.0 million and Food
Services’ operating margin was
6.3% for the year.

Ingredients
The ingredients business faced
demanding market conditions during the
year. The first half year saw strong prices,
particularly for skimmed milk powder,
but during the second half of the year
these returned to more normal levels.
The business was affected by a reduction
in the volume of milk available for
processing. Milk production in the UK
fell 2.5% below quota. This was the first
time that UK milk production had fallen
below quota since 1994, when the
industry was deregulated.

The Unigate acquisition also

included ingredients operations which
have been integrated with Dairy Crest’s
existing business. The ingredients
business provides an essential function
in a broadly based dairy business to
balance the variable milk flows arising
from the liquid milk business. At the
same time we add value to our raw milk
supply through product differentiation,
quality and service. Dairy Crest’s food
ingredients products are supplied to a
quality customer base including leading
UK and European food manufacturers. 

The increased scale provides
operating efficiencies and has enabled 
us to establish Chard in Somerset as a
dedicated dairy ingredients site focused
on the efficient manufacture of bulk
butter and skimmed milk powder.
Production of bulk butter and skimmed
milk powder transferred to Chard from
Crudgington in April 2001.

Under its strategy to concentrate on
building brands and adding value, the
Company directs its raw milk supply 
to those products and markets which
provide the most attractive returns. This
policy means that any variability in raw
milk supply tends to be managed
through the ingredients business, which
is experienced at optimising the balance
between variable market demand
conditions and available raw milk supply.

Household
The acquisition of Unigate’s household
milk business has given Dairy Crest the
opportunity to deliver substantial
synergies driven by greater efficiencies,
operational rationalisation, reduced
administration and cost control. We
have already completed extensive post
integration restructuring leading to
improved operating efficiencies. 

The household delivery market
accounts for 28% of the fresh liquid
milk market in Great Britain. The
combined doorstep business now serves
1.8 million homes across the South 
of England. However, the market
continues to decline and Dairy Crest’s
sales volumes reduced by around 10%
from the previous year.

The middle ground business,
servicing small retail and catering
establishments, represents the
remaining 14% of the fresh liquid 
milk market. This market has grown
by around 1% during the year. The
Unigate acquisition strengthened Dairy
Crest’s position in this competitive
sector and the business benefits from
the enhanced scale and efficiency.

Dairy Crest’s household business is
being managed to deliver significant levels
of profit and cash to invest in the further
development of our added value business.

Operational review
Food Services
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to success

Delivering more than the 

Dairy Crest Ingredients is the largest

ingredients business in the UK and the

number one dairy ingredients exporter.

The household business serves 1.8 million

homes across the South of England by

operating 2,800 doorstep rounds and 300

wholesale rounds.
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Major projects strengthen retail partnerships
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Dairy Crest continues to develop significant

partnerships with the UK’s leading retailers,

by providing a wide range of retailer branded

dairy products.

4369 Dary.C Rev Fin 7/6/01  18/6/01  3:40 pm  Page 14



Dairy Crest Annual Report 2001   15

Care in the community

Dairy Crest staff are dedicated to
supporting charities which benefit
children.

NCH
Dairy Crest depot employees 
and roundsmen have raised over
£200,000 in the last three years. This
contribution has helped fund NCH’s
(previously the National Children’s
Home) projects throughout England,
Wales and Scotland. The Group
continues to support the NCH Willow
Bakeathon with celebrity backing from
Antony Worrall Thompson. This year
the campaign was given an award by
NCH for the Best Marketing Initiative
for 2000.

Children With Leukaemia
In its three year relationship Clover,
supported by Dairy Crest staff, has
raised over £200,000.

Last year, Clover, through a pack
promotion, pledged to raise £75,000
for Children With Leukaemia, and the

money was put towards the Lifeline
Trust to develop a revolutionary new
stem cell centre based at Southmeads
hospital in Bristol.

For the third year running 
Clover supported the Amazing Great
Children’s party in Battersea Park,
London which was attended by over
6,000 children. 

In May 2000 ten members of 
staff from Crudgington, Davidstow,
and Head Office completed a 
260 mile bike ride from Holyhead 
to Southmeads hospital in Bristol. 

Also, a number of fundraising
events were held at the Nantwich
International cheese show in July to
raise further funds for the charity.

Sponsorship
Frijj sponsored a Laser 400 racing boat
which was sailed by Dairy Crest staff
member Jason Kirk and crew Scott
Dawson. With Frijj branding on the
boat, TV coverage was achieved on 
Sky Sports Broadcast.

Ian Anderson, a line technician at Chadwell

Heath Dairy, completed the London

Triathlon, for Children With Leukaemia.
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Summary
The financial results for the year ended
March 2001 reflect the successful
acquisition of Unigate’s dairy and
cheese business. The original Dairy
Crest business has approximately
doubled in size as a result of the
transaction. The acquired business has
been included in the Group results for
9 months since July 2000 and has been
integrated from October onwards.
Where we have identified separate
results attributable to the acquired
activities these are estimates. 

Turnover
Group turnover, including our share of
joint ventures’ turnover, increased by
65% to £1,307 million reflecting the
benefit of the acquisition. We estimate
that the acquisition contributed £500
million for the nine months ended 31
March 2001. Turnover for the ongoing
Dairy Crest business increased by 2%
to £807 million reflecting increased
sales of branded and added value
products partially offset by reductions
in ingredients sales, due to reduced raw
milk availability, and the continuing
impact of the doorstep decline.

Operating profit
Operating profit increased by 57% to
£73.8 million. Operating profit where
referred to in this report is stated before
operating exceptional items and
goodwill amortisation. We estimate
that the acquired business contributed
£28 million for the nine months.
Operating profits for ongoing Dairy
Crest business declined by 3% to £45.8
million reflecting a shortfall in the
contribution from Yoplait Dairy Crest
and competitive trading conditions in
the commodity areas of the business
offset by a strong performance in
added value, particularly cheese.

The addition of Unigate’s retail
liquid milk and cheese business has
increased the operating profit of the
Consumer Foods segment by 25% 
to £40.8 million. This inclusion of

Unigate’s retail liquid milk has reduced
the overall margin of Consumer Foods
from 6.6% to 5.2%. This will increase
as synergy benefits come through. Food
Services incorporates the household
milk delivery and ingredients
businesses. Its operating profit has
more than doubled to £33.0 million.
The Foods Services margin has risen
from 4.8% to 6.3%.

Operating exceptional items and
goodwill amortisation
The integration of the acquired
business is proceeding well and is
accompanied by significant
rationalisation activities as we reduce
the number of processing plants
required to service the business’ needs.
During the year we have closed
Fermanagh and Sturminster Newton
creameries, transferred packet butter
production from Chard to Crudgington
with skimmed milk powder and bulk
butter production going in the
opposite direction, integrated the two
household businesses eliminating
overlapping management and
administrative activities and rationalised
the corporate functions. This has
resulted in a one-off cost of almost £20
million, £12.9 million of which related
to redundancy and business integration
costs and £6.8 million to non-cash
asset and stock write offs.

These costs are broadly in line 
with our expectations at the time of
the acquisition. Further amounts are
expected over the next two years as the
rationalisation plan is completed.

In addition to the costs of
integrating the acquired business into
the Group, as noted at the time of our
interim statement, £1.8 million of
start-up costs at the Nuneaton
Distribution Centre was incurred in
the period following its opening and 
a charge of £0.4 million has been
recognised as our share of Yoplait Dairy
Crest’s costs in closing its Wantage site
and reorganising its activities.

Goodwill amortisation amounts to

Financial Review
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£1.5 million, £1.1 million of which
relates to the acquisition of Unigate’s
dairy and cheese business and £0.4
million to other acquisitions. Goodwill
amortisation in 2001/02 will amount
to £2.1 million before the impact of
acquisitions, if any, next year.

Operating profit after operating
exceptional items and goodwill
amortisation increased by 8% to 
£50.4 million reflecting the significant
integration costs.

Interest
The acquisition of Unigate’s dairy and
cheese business cost £245.5 million,
£233.9 million of which was debt
financed and £11.6 million was settled
by the issue of 6.3 million shares. 
This increase in debt has resulted in 
a significant increase in the Group’s
interest charge to £16.8 million. This
interest charge includes £0.8 million
(2000 – £0.8 million) in respect of our
share of Yoplait Dairy Crest’s interest
and is stated after capitalising interest
of £0.3 million (2000 – £1.6 million)
on major projects. Interest cover
calculated before operating exceptional
items and goodwill amortisation was
4.4 times.

Taxation
The Group’s effective tax rate on
profits excluding operating exceptional
items and goodwill amortisation was
28.4% (2000 – 28.0%). The tax credit
on the operating exceptional items of
£21.9 million was £6.0 million, a rate
of 27.4%. Overall, excluding goodwill
amortisation, the Group’s tax rate was
29.1% (2000 – 28.0%).

Earnings per share
The Group’s adjusted earnings per
share increased by 22% to 35.4p. Basic
earnings per share, which incorporates
the impact of operating exceptional
items and goodwill amortisation,
declined by 30% to 20.2p per share.

The weighted average number of
shares increased by approximately 5

million. As noted above the Company
issued 6.3 million shares to finance 
the acquisition and this increased the
weighted average number of shares 
by 4.7 million.

Dividends
The proposed final dividend of 9.6p
per share, together with the interim
dividend of 4.5p per share, gives a total
of 14.1p per share for the full year.
This represents an increase of over 
8% from the dividend declared for
1999/2000. The final dividend will be
paid on 9 August 2001 to shareholders
on the register on 15 June 2001.

Dividend cover, calculated as profit
for the year after minority interests,
excluding operating exceptional items
and goodwill amortisation, divided 
by dividends payable, was 2.5 times
(2000 – 2.2 times).

Cash flow
The cash inflow from operating
activities was £106.6 million (2000 –
£52.3 million). This reflected a
working capital inflow of £17.6
million, the majority of which has
resulted from a reduction in stocks of
the acquired business from July 2000,
when stocks are normally at a higher
level than at the year end, and a
reduction in the tonnage of maturing
cheese stocks following the integration
of the two businesses.

Depreciation amounted to £35.3
million (2000 – £17.3 million) and
goodwill amortisation amounted to
£1.5 million (2000 – £0.3 million)
both of which were impacted by 
the acquisition.

Expenditure on exceptional items
amounted to £14.7 million and
primarily represented redundancy and
business integration costs.

Interest payments amounted to 
£16.2 million and include the cash
costs of raising the £425 million
facility to finance the acquisition. 
The group is currently borrowing at 
a margin, excluding fees, of 80 basis

points over the relevant interbank rate.
Tax payments were £11.3 million

(2000 – £9.9 million) and include
settlement of liabilities relating to the
pre-acquisition period for the business
acquired.

Capital expenditure was £28.6
million with significant amounts being
incurred at Hartington and Maelor.
The major cash outflows in respect of
the creation of the two ‘super dairies’ at
Chadwell Heath and Severnside will be
incurred in the first half of 2001/02. 
At present both projects are proceeding
to plan.

Purchase of businesses amounted
to £236.8 million, £233.9 million 
of which related to the Unigate
acquisition. In addition £2.1 million of
loan notes were issued in respect of the
acquisition of Somerset & Wilts 
Dairy Limited.

Net debt at the year end increased
by £198.4 million to £246.3 million
and gearing was just over 120%.

Shareholders’ funds
Shareholders’ funds at 31 March 2001
were £199.7 million including
goodwill of £38.6 million, £27.8
million of which related to the Unigate
acquisition. The Group’s balance sheet
is strong with stocks of £192.4 million,
including £146.5 million of maturing
cheese stocks and tangible assets of
£318.8 million. The Group has 19
creameries and dairies and around 
150 household depots, the majority 
of which are freehold.

Treasury policies
The Group operates a centralised
treasury function which controls cash
management and borrowings and the
Group’s financial risks. The main
treasury risks faced by the Group are
liquidity, interest rates and foreign
currency. The Group uses derivatives
only to manage its foreign currency
and interest rate risks arising from
underlying business activities.
Transactions of a speculative nature 
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are prohibited. The Group’s treasury
activities are governed by policies
approved and monitored by the Board.
These policies are summarised below.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding
and flexibility through the use of
facilities with a range of maturity dates.
The Group is funded by a £425 million
credit facility arranged with Rabobank
International and The Royal Bank of
Scotland ‘RBS’ (formerly National
Westminster Bank) to fund the
acquisition of Unigate’s dairy and
cheese business. The facility consists 
of a 5 year term loan facility of £200
million repayable in seven semi-annual
instalments from May 2002 to May
2005 and a £225 million 5 year multi-
currency revolving credit facility
repayable at maturity in May 2005.
This facility replaced the £100 million
multi-currency facility held at 
31 March 2000 which was cancelled.

Short-term funding requirements
are met through uncommitted
overdraft facilities amounting to over
£28 million.

All borrowings are through banks
with AA long-term credit ratings or
better.

Funds temporarily surplus to
business requirements are invested
overnight through deposit accounts
with RBS or other commercial banks
with a credit rating of AA or better.
We do not place deposits for longer
periods. Counterparty risk is
considered to be low, due to the level 
of funds placed on deposit. 

Foreign currency risk
Translation exposures arise on the
earnings and net assets of our overseas
subsidiary, Wexford Creamery Limited.
Our policy is to hedge the net asset
exposure through borrowings in the
relevant foreign currency. At present,
our only translation exposure is in
euros. 

The majority of the Group’s
transactions are carried out in sterling
and so transaction exposures are
limited. The Group trades skimmed
milk products and bulk butter mainly
to customers in Europe and in Central
and South America. The Group’s policy
requires traded foreign currency sales
and purchases to be hedged by foreign
exchange contracts once the transaction
is committed so that the margin on the
transaction can be fixed. The Group
also exports its own skimmed milk
products, bulk butter, Stilton and other
branded products.

Currency exposures on other
transactions, such as capital
expenditure, denominated in a foreign
currency, are hedged following
approval of the project using forward
foreign exchange contracts.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate exposure
management policy is aimed at
reducing the exposure of the business
to changes in interest rates. The
Group’s strategy is to borrow at
floating rates of interest and use
interest rate swaps or forward rate
agreements to limit the exposure 
to movements in sterling LIBOR,
although interest rate caps may also 
be used. The policy is to fix or cap
between one third and two thirds of
the interest cost on outstanding debt,
although a higher percentage may be
fixed within a 12-month horizon.

Net borrowings
The group had £246.3 million of net
borrowings at the end of the year
compared with borrowings of £47.9
million at the beginning of the year.
The substantial increase during the
course of the year was primarily as a
result of the expenditure of £233.9
million on the acquisition of Unigate’s
dairy and cheese business. Net
borrowings include drawdowns of
£246.4 million under the Group’s
long-term facility. At 31 March 2001

gearing was 123% (2000 – 26%).

Going concern 
The financial statements on pages 28
to 46 have been prepared on a going
concern basis as the directors are
satisfied that the Group has adequate
financial resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable
future. In making this statement, the
directors have reviewed the Group’s
budget and available facilities and
made such other enquiries as they
considered appropriate.

Implementation of the euro
We continue to monitor the impact 
of the euro on our business and we are
prepared to take appropriate action in
respect of its implementation in line
with the requirements of our trading
partners. Any costs are not expected to
be material in the context of the Group.

I C Laurie, Finance Director
4 June 2001

Financial review continued
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Directors and Advisers

John Houliston, Chief
Executive (58) – was
appointed Chief Executive 
in 1991 after joining the Dairy
Crest Board in 1990 as deputy
Chief Executive. He was
formerly Managing Director of
UB (Ross Young’s) Ltd. He was
appointed President of The
Dairy Industry Federation in
April 1999.

Peter Allanson-Bailey,
Executive Managing
Director (60) – was appointed
in July 2000 following the
completion of the acquisition 
of Unigate’s dairy and cheese
business. He joined Unigate
Dairies in 1964 and was
appointed Managing Director 
of St Ivel Provisions in 1986 on
the merger of Unigate Foods
with St Ivel Limited.

Bill Brown, Executive
Managing Director (56) –
joined Dairy Crest in 1992 as
Director of Distribution and
was appointed to the Board in
1995. He was formerly Chief
Executive of Fitch Lovell plc.

*† Richard Fletcher, Non-
Executive Director (65)
– was appointed in 1993, a
position he previously held
between 1987 and 1989.
He farms 825 acres in the
West Midlands.

† Gerry Grimstone, Non-
Executive Director (51)
– was appointed in 1999.
He is a Non-Executive
Director of Candover
Investments plc and Aggregate
Industries PLC. He held a
number of senior positions at
Schroders, the investment
bank, where he worked for
fourteen years.

Drummond Hall, Executive
Managing Director (51)
– was appointed 1991.
He joined from HP Bulmer
Holdings plc where he was
Managing Director, Cider and
Beer Division. He was formerly
Marketing Director with Pepsi
Cola Northern Europe.

*‡ Tom Jones, Non-
Executive Director (52)
– was appointed in 1993.
He farms 100 acres, mainly
grassland, in Anglesey and has a
dairy herd of 70 cows.

Ian Laurie, Finance
Director (54) – was
appointed in 1995. He 
joined Dairy Crest from
Ocean Group plc, where 
he was Group Finance
Director for eight years.
He was formerly Finance
Director of Asda Stores Ltd.

*‡ Paul Lewis, Senior Non-
Executive Director (64)
– was appointed in 1993.
He was Deputy Chairman and
previously Group Finance
Director of Tate & Lyle plc
until his retirement in
February 1998. He is also a
Non-Executive Director of
Federal Mogul Corporation,
Southfield, Michigan, USA.

Chris Roberts, Executive
Managing Director (45)
– was appointed in July 2000
following the completion of
the acquisition of Unigate’s
dairy and cheese business.
He joined Unigate in 1977 and
was appointed as Managing
Director of Unigate Dairies 
in 1995.

Roger Newton, Company
Secretary (52) – joined
Dairy Crest in February 1992.
He is a Solicitor and
Chartered Secretary.

Auditors
Ernst & Young

Financial Adviser
Merrill Lynch International

Solicitors
Clifford Chance LLP
Wedlake Bell

Principal Bankers
The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc
Rabobank, London Branch
Westdeutsche Landesbank
Girozentrale

Registered Office
Dairy Crest House,
Portsmouth Road,
Surbiton, Surrey KT6 5QL

Registered in England No.
3162897

Members of the Audit Committee
Members of the Nomination
Committee
Members of the Remuneration
Committee

* 
‡ 

† 

‡† Simon Oliver, Chairman
(60) – was appointed as a Non-
Executive Director in 1997 and
became Chairman in July 2000.
He farms 670 acres of cereals 
in Cornwall and has many years’
experience in the dairy industry.
He was Chairman of Mendip
Foods Limited prior to its
acquisition by Dairy Crest in
1995. He is Chairman of Private
Investor Capital Limited.

Except for Simon Oliver, Peter
Allanson-Bailey, Gerry Grimstone
and Chris Roberts dates of
appointment refer to the year 
when the director was appointed 
to the Board of Dairy Crest
Limited. John Houliston and Ian
Laurie were appointed to the 
Board of Dairy Crest Group plc 
on 24 June 1996 and the other
directors were appointed to the
Board on 4 July 1996.
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Corporate Governance

The Company’s corporate governance procedures have met the requirements of Section 1 of the Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance (“the Code”) throughout the year with the exception of the selection of a senior non-executive director (see below).

The Board
The Board consists of the non-executive Chairman, six executive directors and four non-executive directors. It meets eight times 
a year. A formal schedule of matters is reserved for the Board which includes Group strategy, approval of budgets and major 
capital expenditure projects. All directors have access to external advice at the expense of the Company. It was agreed in June 2001
that Mr P S Lewis should act as the Company’s senior non-executive director. Any shareholder who has a concern about the affairs of
the Company should contact, in the first instance, the Chairman, Chief Executive, or Mr Lewis. Shareholders may also contact 
any of the other non-executive directors should the need arise.

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three non-executive directors. The Committee normally meets at least twice a year to review 
the Company’s interim and annual financial statements before submission to the Board for its approval, to review the adequacy 
of the Group’s accounting systems and controls and to monitor the relationship with the external auditors.

The Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises two non-executive directors, one of whom is chairman of the Committee, and the 
non-executive Chairman. It is responsible for making recommendations to the Board for all director appointments.

The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises three non-executive directors. Its responsibilities are to determine, within remuneration
principles agreed with the Board, the salaries, bonuses and pension rights of the executive directors. Remuneration and benefits are
designed to be set at a level appropriate to the Company’s circumstances having regard to market information provided by outside
agencies. The Board itself determines the remuneration of non-executive directors.

Relations with shareholders
Communications with shareholders are given high priority. There is regular dialogue with institutional and other major shareholders.
The Board uses the Annual General Meeting to communicate with private and institutional investors and welcomes their participation.
The Chairman aims to ensure that the chairmen of the audit, remuneration and nomination committees are available at Annual
General Meetings to answer questions.

Internal control
The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and risk management and for reviewing its effectiveness. 
As required by D.2.1 of the Code, the Board has established an ongoing process, in accordance with the guidance of the Turnbull
committee on internal control, to identify, evaluate and manage the risks faced by the Group. This process has been in place 
for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report.

The main elements of the process applied in reviewing the effectiveness of the systems of internal control include:
• Board – the Board exercises its responsibilities through an organisational structure with clearly defined levels of responsibility and

rules relating to delegated authorities. The Board meets regularly throughout the year and has received oral and written presentations
to maintain effective control over strategic, financial, operational and compliance matters.

• Financial reporting – there is an annual budget approved by the Board and monthly financial reporting to the Board. The monthly
financial information includes trading results, balance sheet and cash flow information by business unit with comparison against
prior year and budget.

• Control environment – the identification and mitigation of business unit risks is the responsibility of the executive directors in
conjunction with the senior management of each business. Each business unit operates and maintains controls appropriate to its 
own activities and conforms to group policies and procedures. On a quarterly basis, each business unit is required to complete 
a self-assessment controls questionnaire that requires the approval of business unit management. In addition, the Audit Committee
receives reports from the external auditors on the conclusions of their interim review and final audit.

The directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control which is designed to manage rather than
eliminate risk of failure to achieve the Group’s strategic objectives and to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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Report of the Board on Directors’ Remuneration

The Board has appointed a Remuneration Committee of non-executive directors of the Company. The Committee consists of 
Mr G E Grimstone (Chairman), Mr R Fletcher and Mr S M D Oliver. Committee members have no potential conflicts of interest
arising from cross-directorships and are not involved in the day-to-day running of the Company. The Chief Executive attends all
meetings for matters other than those concerning himself. The Remuneration Committee determines, within remuneration principles
agreed with the Board, the remuneration of the executive directors in all its forms, drawing on outside advice as necessary.

Total remuneration
The total remuneration package, which is reviewed annually, is structured to attract, retain and motivate executive directors. 
The total remuneration for executive directors consists of base salary, bonus, participation in the Dairy Crest Group Pension 
Fund, selected benefits in kind and share incentive and option arrangements.

• Base salary
Salary levels for executive directors are reviewed annually based on an independent assessment of market practice and are set to reflect
the pay levels of executives with similar responsibilities in companies of comparable size and complexity.

• Bonus
Executive directors participate in a performance related annual scheme which is linked to the achievement of short-term financial
targets which are agreed in advance by the Remuneration Committee.

• Long Term Incentive Share Plan 
A Long Term Incentive Share Plan (“LTISP”) was introduced on 28 June 1996 which is designed to encourage continuing
improvement in the Group’s performance over the longer term. An LTISP award is payable in shares, rather than cash, to emphasise
the alignment of interest between the participants and the Company’s shareholders. The LTISP has a three year performance cycle
and pre-determined performance conditions which must be met before awards under the LTISP can be exercised. Awards under the
LTISP are granted annually and, for the awards which were made during each of the last five financial years, the Company’s earnings
per share must increase over a three year period by the retail prices index plus 6%. In addition, the total shareholder return (“TSR”)
of Dairy Crest Group plc (share value growth assuming reinvestment of dividends) will be measured against that of 16 comparable
companies in the foods sector. If the TSR of Dairy Crest Group plc at the end of the performance cycle is in the top quartile of 
the comparable companies then the participant will receive the full number of the shares awarded to him including reinvestment 
of dividends; at the median 50% of the shares and if below the median, no shares. A proportionate number of shares will be received
for intermediate positions between the top quartile and the median.

The value of shares awarded under the LTISP in any financial year is subject to limits as determined by the Remuneration Committee
from time to time. The current annual limit for awards is 80% of base salary. The maximum awards during the year amounted to 75%
of base salary.

Following the passing of a resolution at the Annual General Meeting in July 2000, awards granted after 1999 may be exercised if 
the participant remains employed by the Group for at least three years from the commencement of the accounting period in which 
the grant was made (four years for awards granted prior to 2000). The Board is proposing a further amendment to the LTISP, details
of which are set out on page 52, to allow awards to be granted up to six months before retirement to align the scheme rules with 
the latest ABI guidelines and to incentivise executives to achieve high performance targets until the date they retire from the Company.
Awards granted in these circumstances will be subject to the normal performance conditions and will be exercisable in an amount
proportionate to the service of the executive in the relevant performance period. Under the existing rules no LTISP awards can be
granted within two years of retirement. Early exercise is permitted in the event of death or cessation of employment through injury,
disability, redundancy or retirement at contractual retirement age but only to the extent that the TSR performance condition is
satisfied at the end of the quarter date prior to cessation of employment and only in respect of a time-apportioned number of shares.
Special provisions apply if there is a change of control of the Company.

• Executive Share Option Scheme 
The Dairy Crest Executive Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) was established on 30 July 1996. Part A is approved by the Inland Revenue
and Part B is an unapproved scheme. Options are granted to participants at prices determined by the Remuneration Committee which
may not be less than the market price of the shares as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List at the time of grant.

The options may not normally be exercised unless the Company’s earnings per share has increased over a three year period by the
retail prices index plus 6%.

Directors of the Company who are granted awards under the LTISP will not be granted additional share options under the ESOS
except in the case of promotion.
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Report of the Board on Directors’ Remuneration continued

• Sharesave Scheme 
The Dairy Crest Sharesave Scheme was first established on 30 July 1996 and there have been two subsequent schemes. It is open to
all eligible employees and full time directors. Employees enter into an approved savings contract to make monthly contributions of
up to an overall maximum of £250 per month over a three or five year term. At the end of the term employees have the right to buy
ordinary shares in the Company at a price fixed at the time of the option grant. The price at which the options may be offered may
not be less than 80% of the market price.

• Dairy Crest Group Pension Fund 
All executive directors are members of the Dairy Crest Group Pension Fund which provides for a pension based upon an executive’s
final basic salary. No bonuses are pensionable. The aim of the Company’s policy on pensions for executive directors, who are not
subject to the Inland Revenue cap, is to provide benefits at the normal retirement age of 60 equal to two thirds of pensionable
earnings, subject to completion of 20 years’ service. Because they joined the Company since the introduction of the Inland Revenue
earnings cap, under their existing contracts Messrs Brown, Hall, Houliston and Laurie could select, on an annual basis, to be party
to either an unfunded unapproved retirement benefit scheme (“UURBS”) or a funded unapproved retirement benefit scheme
(“FURBS”). The directors have to date all elected to participate in a FURBS. Each FURBS contribution rate has to be reviewed at
intervals. On review the future contribution rate (as a percentage of salary) is effectively set by an actuary who is required to have
regard, inter alia, to the effect that the existence of the earnings cap has had upon benefits which the director will receive from the
Dairy Crest Group Pension Fund. The future contribution rate (as a percentage of salary) following each review is therefore
uncertain and can increase substantially, if, for example, salaries have increased significantly. Accordingly, in order to reduce future
potential expenses to the Company and to fix potential liabilities (as a percentage of salary) with effect from 1 April 2000, the
UURBS has been withdrawn and a fixed contribution rate (as a percentage of salary (or a fixed monetary amount in Mr Houliston’s
case)) will be contributed by the Company to each FURBS. The executive director is responsible for paying income tax on the
contributions paid by the Company to the FURBS.

• Benefits in kind 
These include the taxable value of company car and fuel costs, life assurance cover, company contributions to medical insurance
plans and relocation costs and allowances.

• Service contracts 
In accordance with best practice as set out in the Combined Code, executive directors who joined the Company after 1 April 2000
currently have a notice period not exceeding one year. Mr Allanson-Bailey has a fixed term service contract expiring on 30 April
2002. The service contracts of Messrs Brown, Hall and Houliston, which have a two years’ notice period, have been amended so
that after 31 July 2002, notice periods will reduce over twelve months to one year. Mr Laurie has a service contract on two years’
notice from the Company. The Remuneration Committee considers that these arrangements are appropriate for the Company’s
circumstances.

Again, in accordance with best practice as set out in the Combined Code, service contracts of directors have been amended to
provide explicitly for termination payments in the event of termination by the Company other than on grounds of incapacity or in
circumstances justifying summary termination.

Details of the directors offering themselves for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting are set out in the Directors’
report on page 26.
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Remuneration of non-executive directors
The non-executive directors receive a basic fee for their services plus an additional sum for the Chairmanship of a Board Committee.
Their remuneration is determined by the Board in consultation with appropriate external advisers.

Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 
Basic Emoluments (excluding Pension payments to defined

salary/fees Benefits Bonus pension contributions) contribution schemes

2001 2001 2001 2001 2000 2001 2000
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chairman
Non-executive
S M D Oliver (appointed
Chairman 20 July 2000) 78 – – 78 28 – –

Executive directors
M Dowdall
(retired 20 July 2000) 50 10 28 88 154 – –
W J Houliston 373 22 151 546 307 300 116
P Allanson-Bailey 
(appointed 20 July 2000) 105 7 58 170 – – –
W R Brown 214 13 87 314 204 101 64
J W D Hall 225 11 91 327 204 96 59
I C Laurie 225 12 91 328 204 111 71
C D Roberts
(appointed 20 July 2000) 122 8 73 203 – – –

1,314 83 579 1,976 1,073 608 310

Non-executive directors
R Fletcher 24 – – 24 22 – –
G E Grimstone 28 – – 28 22 – –
T H Jones 27 – – 27 25 – –
P S Lewis 29 – – 29 28 – –

108 – – 108 97 – –

1,500 83 579 2,162 1,198 608 310

No bonus was payable in respect of the year ended 31 March 2000.
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Report of the Board on Directors’ Remuneration continued

Long-term incentive share plan awards

Details of the maturity of LTISP awards granted in 1996 were set out on page 23 of the Annual Report 2000.

As noted in last year’s report, the performance conditions for the LTISP award granted in 1997 resulted in an award of 67.25% of 
its maximum. As each executive director listed below was employed by the Group on 31 March 2001, he is now entitled to exercise
this LTISP award. The value of this award based on the mid-market price of the shares of Dairy Crest Group plc of 231.5 pence at
the close of business on 31 March 2001 is as follows:

As at Granted As at Value
1 April during 31 March 31 March

2000 the year* 2001 2001
Number Number Number £

W J Houliston 41,452 3,563 45,015 104,210
W R Brown 26,724 2,297 29,021 67,184
J W D Hall 28,934 2,487 31,421 72,740
I C Laurie 28,934 2,487 31,421 72,740

316,874

*Shares allocated representing reinvestment of dividends

The performance conditions set out on page 21 in respect of the LTISP award granted in 1998 have been satisfied in full. Each
director will be able to exercise his award for the shares set out below after 1 April 2002 provided he remains employed by the Group
until 31 March 2002.

Details of subsequent awards, which will be exercisable at the stated dates subject to the performance conditions being fully satisfied
and the directors remaining employed by the Group at the date of exercise, are as follows:

As at Granted As at Date when
1 April during 31 March options

2000 the year* 2001 exercisable

W J Houliston 43,710 3,757 47,467 01.04.2002
51,273 4,407 55,680 01.04.2003

– 172,213 172,213 01.04.2003
W R Brown 29,128 2,503 31,631 01.04.2002

34,170 2,936 37,106 01.04.2003
– 94,718 94,718 01.04.2003

J W D Hall 29,128 2,503 31,631 01.04.2002
34,170 2,936 37,106 01.04.2003

– 101,175 101,175 01.04.2003
I C Laurie 29,128 2,503 31,631 01.04.2002

34,170 2,936 37,106 01.04.2003
– 101,175 101,175 01.04.2003

*Includes shares allocated representing reinvestment of dividends.

Directors’ pension entitlements
The pension entitlements of the directors from the Dairy Crest Group Pension Fund, a defined benefits scheme, which have 
been excluded from the table on page 23, were as follows:

Increase in Accumulated Change
accrued total accrued in transfer

Length of pension during pension at value during 
service the year 31 March 2001 the year

Age Years £000 £000 £000

W J Houliston 58 11.25 1 17 16
P Allanson-Bailey 60 37.0 4 85 76
W R Brown 56 9.10 (1) 17 (19)
J W D Hall 51 9.50 3 29 28
I C Laurie 54 5.75 1 9 15
C D Roberts 45 23.0 11 68 101

The increase in accrued pension during the year and related change in transfer value exclude the effect of inflation.
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Directors’ shareholdings
The interests of the directors in the ordinary share capital of the Company are as follows:

As at As at
31 March 2001 1 April 2000

Beneficial Beneficial

S M D Oliver 30,000 –
W J Houliston* 13,813 3,568
P Allanson-Bailey 4,256 4,256**
W R Brown* 13,448 13,448
J W D Hall* 6,858 6,416
I C Laurie* 104,298 13,568
C D Roberts 4,051 4,051**
R Fletcher 21,879 16,879
G E Grimstone 10,000 10,000
T H Jones 18,305 13,305
P S Lewis 5,000 –

*These directors are potential beneficiaries of the ESOP and QUEST and in addition to the shares noted above under beneficial
interests they are also deemed to have a beneficial interest in all the shares held by the ESOP and QUEST (see Note 13 on page 38).

**At date of appointment.

On 15 December 2000 Mr I C Laurie exercised awards over 70,485 shares originally granted in respect of the 1996 LTISP and 
has retained the shares. The market price of the shares at that date was 235.5 pence which resulted in an unrealised gain of £165,991. 
Mr W J Houliston, Mr W R Brown and Mr J W D Hall are absolutely entitled to 96,220, 59,805 and 70,485 shares respectively,
awarded under the 1996 LTISP.

There have been no changes in directors’ shareholdings between 31 March 2001 and 4 June 2001. The above interests exclude any
rights to acquire shares under the LTISP arrangements which are set out above.

Directors’ options
As at Granted As at Exercise Date when

1 April during 31 March price options Expiry
2000 the year 2001 (pence) exercisable date

W J Houliston 579,355 – 579,355 155 28.08.1999 27.08.2003
15,873 – 15,873 189 28.08.1999 27.08.2006
7,109 1,984 9,093* 151 01.10.2001 31.03.2002

W R Brown 352,774 – 352,774 155 28.08.1999 27.08.2003
15,873 – 15,873 189 28.08.1999 27.08.2006

122 734 856* 185 01.03.2003 31.08.2003
J W D Hall 419,226 – 419,226 155 28.08.1999 27.08.2003

15,873 – 15,873 189 28.08.1999 27.08.2006
7,109 1,984 9,093* 151 01.10.2001 31.03.2002

I C Laurie 419,226 – 419,226 155 28.08.1999 27.08.2003
15,873 – 15,873 189 28.08.1999 27.08.2006
7,109 1,984 9,093* 151 01.10.2001 31.03.2002

*Savings related options accrued on savings at 31 March 2001.

The mid-market price of the above shares as at the close of business on 31 March 2001 was 231.5 pence per share. During the year
between 1 April 2000 and 31 March 2001 the mid-market closing price ranged from 134.5 pence per share to 273.5 pence per share.
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Directors’ report
Year ended 31 March 2001

The directors of Dairy Crest Group plc present their fifth annual report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2001. 

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Group is the manufacture and trading of milk and 
dairy products.

Review of operations
The Group’s operations and future developments are dealt with in the Chief Executive’s
review, Operational review and Financial review (pages 3 to 18). In July 2000, the Group
acquired the Unigate dairy and cheese business for a consideration of £245.5 million,
£233.9 million of which was paid in cash and £11.6 million was settled through the
issue of 6,291,904 ordinary shares.

Results and dividends
The consolidated profit and loss account is on page 28. The profit for the year, after
taxation, amounted to £23.4 million (2000 – £31.6 million). The directors recommend 
a final dividend of 9.6 pence per share which, together with the interim dividend 
of 4.5 pence per share paid on 25 January 2001, makes a total dividend for the year 
of 14.1 pence per share. If approved, the dividend will be paid on 9 August 2001 to
shareholders on the register on 15 June 2001.

Fixed assets
The directors are of the opinion that the current market value in existing use 
of the Group’s property interests is around £25 million above the value shown 
in the financial statements.

Directors
A list of the directors at the end of the year is set out on page 19.

Mr M Dowdall retired from the Board on 20 July 2000 and was succeeded as Chairman
by Mr S M D Oliver.

Mr P Allanson-Bailey and Mr C D Roberts were appointed to the Board on 20 July 2000.
As they were appointed during the year, both Mr P Allanson-Bailey and Mr C D Roberts
will retire at this year’s Annual General Meeting in accordance with the Articles of
Association and will seek re-election.

Details of their service agreements are included in the Report of the Board on directors’
remuneration on pages 21 to 25.

Mr R Fletcher, Mr T H Jones and Mr S M D Oliver retire by rotation. Mr Fletcher will
retire as a non-executive director at the close of the Annual General Meeting. Mr Jones
(Chairman of Nomination Committee) and Mr Oliver (Chairman), being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. Non-executive directors do not have service agreements. 

Details of directors’ remuneration and interests in shares are given in the Report of the
Board on directors' remuneration on pages 21 to 25. A brief biography of each of the
directors, which includes their membership of Board Committees, is given on page 19.
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Share capital
The authorised and issued share capital of the Company, together with details of the
shares issued during the year, are shown in note 20 on page 41. So far as the Company
is aware, at 1 June 2001, the following institutions held interests of 3% or more in the
capital of the Company on behalf of themselves and others:

Gartmore Investment Management plc 7.47%
Credit Suisse Asset Management Limited 6.96%
Aberforth Partners 3.34%
Deutsche Asset Management Limited 3.27%
Barclays Bank plc 3.03%

Employee involvement
The importance of good communications is recognised by the Company. There are 
also well-established consultation and negotiating arrangements with recognised 
trade unions.

Employment of disabled persons
The Company considers applicants for posts compatible with their disability. 
Staff who become disabled are retained wherever practicable.

Charitable and political donations
Charitable donations amounted to £0.1 million (2000 – £0.1 million) in the year. 
Small contributions, mainly of product, were also made to local charities.
No contributions were made to any political party.

Supplier payment policy
Payment dates are established according to the agreed date of delivery of goods or
provision of services and the receipt of a correct invoice. The Group agrees the length 
of payment terms with each of its suppliers as part of the overall purchasing agreement.
It is the Group’s policy to abide by these agreed terms of payment. The number of days’
purchases in the Group’s creditors at 31 March 2001 was 22 (Company nil).

Auditors
Ernst & Young have expressed their willingness to continue as auditors of the Company.
Ernst & Young have stated that it is intending to transfer its business to a limited
liability partnership incorporated under the Limited Liability Act 2000, to be called
Ernst & Young LLP, on 28 June 2001. The directors have consented to treating the
appointment of Ernst & Young as extending to Ernst & Young LLP with effect from 
28 June 2001. A resolution to reappoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s auditors
will be put to the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at the Chartered Accountants’ Hall, 
Moorgate Place, London EC2P 2BJ on Thursday 19 July 2001 at 11.00am. Details of
the resolutions to be proposed, including three items of special business, are given in the
Notice of Annual General Meeting and Explanatory Notes which appear on pages 50 
to 52.

The directors believe that the resolutions are in the best interests of the Company and 
its shareholders as a whole and unanimously recommend that shareholders should vote
in favour of all resolutions.

By order of the Board
R J Newton
Secretary
4 June 2001 
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Consolidated profit and loss account
Year ended 31 March 2001

Year ended 31 March 2001 Year ended
31 March 2000

Note £m £m £m £m

Before Exceptional Total
exceptional items items and

and goodwill goodwill
amortisation amortisation

Turnover
Group and share of joint ventures 2 1,307.1 – 1,307.1 793.7
Less:
Share of joint ventures 2 (79.2) – (79.2) (77.0)

Group turnover 1 1,227.9 – 1,227.9 716.7

Operating costs before exceptional items and amortisation 3 (1,158.1) – (1,158.1) (675.3)
Operating exceptional items 5 – (21.5) (21.5) –
Amortisation of goodwill – (1.5) (1.5) (0.3)

Operating costs 3 (1,158.1) (23.0) (1,181.1) (675.6)

Group operating profit 69.8 (23.0) 46.8 41.1
Share of profits in joint ventures 5 4.0 (0.4) 3.6 5.7

Total operating profit
Group and joint ventures 2 73.8 (23.4) 50.4 46.8
Net interest payable 
– Group 6 (16.0) – (16.0) (2.0)
– Share of joint ventures (0.8) – (0.8) (0.8)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 57.0 (23.4) 33.6 44.0

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 7 (16.2) 6.0 (10.2) (12.4)

Profit for the year before minority interests 40.8 (17.4) 23.4 31.6
Equity minority interests (0.2) – (0.2) –

Profit for the year after minority interests 40.6 (17.4) 23.2 31.6
Dividends 8 (16.4) – (16.4) (14.3)

Transfer to reserves 21 24.2 (17.4) 6.8 17.3

Basic earnings per share (p) 9 20.2 28.8
Adjusted earnings per share (p) 9 35.4 29.1
Diluted earnings per share (p) 9 19.6 27.9

The profit and loss account relates to continuing operations.

Statement of Group total recognised gains and losses

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2001 31 March 2000

£m £m

Profit for the year after minority interests 23.2 31.6
Translation differences on foreign currency investments (0.7) –

Total recognised gains for the year 22.5 31.6
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Balance sheets
as at 31 March 2001

Group Company

2001 2000 2001 2000
Note £m £m £m £m

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 11 38.6 6.9 – –
Tangible assets 12 318.8 159.3 – –
Investments 13 8.1 5.6 354.6 102.1
Investments in joint ventures 14

Share of gross assets 23.6 24.2 – –
Share of gross liabilities (23.0) (25.7) – –
Reclassification to provisions 19 0.9 1.5 – –

1.5 – – –

367.0 171.8 354.6 102.1

Current assets
Stocks 15 192.4 122.8 – –
Debtors 16 145.2 69.9 1.0 –
Cash at bank and in hand 4.9 3.8 0.2 0.1

342.5 196.5 1.2 0.1

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings 17 (4.6) (0.4) – –
Other creditors 17 (225.2) (114.3) (263.6) (14.5)

(229.8) (114.7) (263.6) (14.5)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 112.7 81.8 (262.4) (14.4)

Total assets less current liabilities 479.7 253.6 92.2 87.7

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year
Borrowings 18 (246.6) (51.3) – –
Other creditors 18 (5.4) (9.1) – –

Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 (25.6) (11.8) – –

Net assets 202.1 181.4 92.2 87.7

Capital and reserves
Called up equity share capital 20 30.1 28.4 30.1 28.4
Equity reserves

Share premium account 21 17.8 7.3 17.8 7.3
Merger reserve 21 55.9 55.9 – –
Profit and loss account 21 95.9 89.8 44.3 52.0

Equity shareholders’ funds 22 199.7 181.4 92.2 87.7

Equity minority interests 2.4 – – –

202.1 181.4 92.2 87.7

S M D Oliver, Chairman

W J Houliston, Chief Executive

The financial statements were approved by the directors on 4 June 2001.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
Year ended 31 March 2001

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2001 31 March 2000

Note £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 23(a) 106.6 52.3

Dividends from joint ventures 1.2 4.7

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest paid (16.2) (3.5)
Interest element of finance lease rental payments – (0.1)

Net cash outflow from returns on
investments and servicing of finance (16.2) (3.6)

Taxation paid (11.3) (9.9)

Capital expenditure
Payments to acquire fixed assets (28.6) (47.4)
Purchase of shares by Dairy Crest ESOP (2.5) (1.3)
Proceeds from disposals of shares – 1.2
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets 5.2 4.5

Net cash outflow for capital expenditure (25.9) (43.0)

Acquisitions and disposals
Purchase of businesses 24 (236.8) –
Cash acquired with businesses 0.6 –

Net cash outflow from acquisitions and disposals (236.2) –

Equity dividends paid (14.9) (13.6)

Net cash outflow before financing (196.7) (13.1)

Financing
Increase in long-term borrowings 195.2 16.8
Increase in short-term borrowings 2.4 –
Issue of ordinary share capital 0.6 0.1
Finance lease repayments (0.4) (1.2)

Net cash inflow from financing 197.8 15.7

Increase in cash in the year 1.1 2.6

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
Net debt at beginning of the year (47.9) (34.4)
Increase in cash in the year 1.1 2.6
Increase in short-term borrowings (2.4) –
Increase in long-term borrowings (195.2) (16.8)
Loan notes issued (2.1) –
Exchange differences on long-term borrowings (0.2) –
Finance leases incepted – (0.5)
Cash outflow from decrease in lease financing 0.4 1.2

Net debt at end of the year 23(b) (246.3) (47.9)
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Accounting policies

1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in
accordance with applicable accounting standards.

2 Consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the accounts of Dairy Crest Group plc and its
subsidiary undertakings drawn up to 31 March each year and include the appropriate share 
of the results and net assets of its joint ventures. Subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures
acquired during the year are consolidated from the date of acquisition.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into sterling at year 
end exchange rates. The results of foreign subsidiaries are translated into sterling at average rates 
of exchange for the year. Exchange differences arising from the retranslation of the net investment
in foreign subsidiaries at year end exchange rates less exchange differences on borrowings which
finance or provide a hedge against those undertakings are taken to reserves and are reported in the
statement of total recognised gains and losses.

3 Goodwill
Goodwill arising on acquisitions since 1 April 1998, comprising the difference between the cost of
shares or businesses acquired and the fair value of the identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition,
is capitalised as an intangible fixed asset and amortised to the profit and loss account over the
estimated useful life of the asset, not exceeding 20 years. Goodwill arising on acquisitions before 
1 April 1998 has been charged against the merger reserve and has not been reinstated following 
the implementation of FRS10. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full 
year following acquisition and in other periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may not be recoverable. If a subsidiary or business is disposed of, any goodwill
arising on acquisition that was written off directly to reserves or that has not been amortised
through the profit and loss account is taken into account in determining the profit or loss on sale.

4 Turnover
Turnover represents the amount invoiced, net of VAT, for goods and services supplied to customers.

5 Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The carrying values of
tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Interest is capitalised on capital projects during 
the period of construction based on the Group’s average cost of borrowings.

6 Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of tangible fixed assets, excluding freehold land,
over their estimated useful lives in equal annual instalments over the following periods:

Freehold buildings – 25 years
Leasehold land and buildings – 25 years or, if shorter, the period of the lease
Plant and equipment – 4 to 20 years
Vehicles – 4 to 14 years

7 Government and other grants
Regional development and other grants received for the purchase of fixed assets are included 
in creditors and subsequently released to profit over the useful life of the asset.

8 Leased assets
Assets acquired under finance leases are included in the balance sheet at cost less depreciation. 
The net present value of future lease rentals is included as a liability on the balance sheet. 
The interest element of lease rentals is charged to the profit and loss account in the year.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on the straight
line basis.
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Accounting policies continued

9 Investments
Joint ventures are those in which the Group holds a long-term interest and shares control under 
a contractual arrangement. Joint ventures are accounted for using the gross equity method. 
The Group’s share of joint ventures’ profits is included in the consolidated profit and loss account
and its share of their attributable net assets is included in the Group balance sheet.

10 Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost (including attributable production overheads) and net
realisable value. Consumable stores are valued at cost, net of provisions where appropriate.

11 Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation relating to capital allowances and other timing differences is provided in the
accounts insofar as a liability is expected to arise in the foreseeable future. Deferred taxation is
provided in full in respect of pension prepayments or liabilities.

12 Pensions
Pension costs are recognised on a systematic basis in order to spread the costs of providing
retirement benefits evenly over the service lives of the employees concerned. Any excess or
deficiency of the actuarial value of assets over the actuarial value of liabilities is allocated over 
the average remaining service lives of current employees. 

13 Foreign currencies
Forward foreign exchange contracts are accounted for as hedges when they relate to a foreign
currency asset or liability that is probable and which involves the same currency as the hedged
item. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the 
rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, or the forward rate where hedged. 
Exchange rate differences are charged to the profit and loss account.

14 Research and development
Expenditure on research and development is written off as incurred.

15 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan (ESOP)
The shares in the Company held by the Dairy Crest Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust 
are recorded in the balance sheet and are classified within fixed assets. The expected net cost 
of benefits is charged against profits over the performance period during which the benefits 
are earned by the employees.

16 Derivative instruments
The group uses forward foreign currency contracts to reduce exposure to foreign exchange rates.
The group also uses interest rate swaps to adjust interest rate exposures. The group considers its
derivative instruments qualify for hedge accounting when certain criteria are met.

Forward foreign currency contracts
The criteria for forward foreign currency contracts are that the instrument must be related to a
foreign currency asset or liability that is probable and whose characteristics have been identified, 
it must involve the same currency as the hedged item and it must reduce the risk of foreign
currency exchange movements on the group’s operations.

The rates under such contracts are used to record the hedged item. As a result, gains and losses 
are offset against the foreign exchange gains and losses on the related financial assets and liabilities,
or where the instrument is used to hedge a committed, or probable, future transaction, are deferred
until the transaction occurs.

Interest rate swaps
The group’s criteria for interest rate swaps are that the instrument must be related to an asset or 
a liability and it must change the character of the interest rate by converting a variable rate 
to a fixed rate or vice versa.

Interest differentials are recognised by accruing the net interest payable. Interest rate swaps are 
not revalued to fair value or shown on the group balance sheet at the year end.
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Turnover
Turnover originates principally in the United Kingdom. Analysis of turnover by destination:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2001 31 March 2000

£m £m

United Kingdom 1,137.6 635.2
Other EU countries 36.4 25.2
Rest of the world 53.9 56.3

Group 1,227.9 716.7

2 Segmental information
Analysis of turnover, operating profit and net operating assets of continuing operations by business segment:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2001 31 March 2000

£m £m

Turnover
Consumer Foods 785.5 493.5
Food Services 521.6 300.2

Group and share of joint ventures 1,307.1 793.7
Less: Share of joint ventures (79.2) (77.0)

Group 1,227.9 716.7

As set out in note 24, the results of the acquired Unigate dairy and cheese business are not separately identifiable. The directors
estimate that Group turnover includes £500 million from acquisitions. In view of the extent of estimation, it is not possible to analyse
the acquired business’ turnover between Consumer Foods and Food Services.

Year ended 31 March 2001 Year ended
31 March 2000

£m £m £m £m

Before Exceptional Total
exceptional items items and
and amortisation amortisation

Operating profit
Consumer Foods – Group 36.8 (15.7) 21.1 26.9

– Share of joint ventures 4.0 (0.4) 3.6 5.7
Food Services 33.0 (7.3) 25.7 14.2

Group and share of joint ventures 73.8 (23.4) 50.4 46.8

As set out in note 24, the results of the acquired Unigate dairy and cheese business are not separately identifiable. The directors
estimate that Group operating profit includes £28 million from acquisitions. In view of the extent of estimation, it is not possible to
analyse the acquired business’ operating profit between Consumer Foods and Food Services.

At At
31 March 2001 31 March 2000

£m £m

Net operating assets
Consumer Foods 376.1 213.1
Food Services 120.4 47.8

Group and share of joint ventures 496.5 260.9

Net operating assets comprise net assets excluding cash, borrowings, tax and dividend creditors.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

3 Operating costs
Year ended 31 March 2001 Year ended

31 March 2000
£m £m £m £m £m

Before Exceptional Goodwill Total Total
exceptional items items amortisation
and amortisation

Cost of sales 965.0 10.5 – 975.5 575.2
Distribution costs 141.7 1.8 – 143.5 75.5
Administration costs 51.4 9.2 1.5 62.1 24.9

1,158.1 21.5 1.5 1,181.1 675.6

4 Operating profit
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2001 31 March 2000
£m £m

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation – assets held under finance leases 1.2 1.5

– owned assets 34.1 15.8
Amortisation of goodwill 1.5 0.3
Release of grants (1.4) (1.5)
Operating lease rentals – plant and equipment 1.6 1.2

– other operating leases 8.3 5.2
Research and development expenditure 1.5 1.3
Auditors’ remuneration – audit fees 0.3 0.2

Fees payable to Ernst & Young for non-audit services relating to the acquisition of the Unigate dairy and cheese business and tax
advice amounted to £0.9 million (2000 – £0.3 million).

5 Operating exceptional items
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2001 31 March 2000
£m £m

Continuing operations before acquisitions
Start up costs at Nuneaton distribution centre 1.8 –
Share of net loss on closure of site by joint venture 0.4 –

2.2 –
Acquisitions
Redundancy costs 8.3 –
Fixed asset write downs (net of grant releases of £3.1million) 5.5 –
Stock write downs 1.3 –
Business integration costs 4.6 –

21.9 –

Operating exceptional items relating to acquisitions represent principally one-off costs to integrate the Unigate dairy and cheese
business into the Dairy Crest Group.

6 Net interest payable (Group)
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2001 31 March 2000
£m £m

Bank loans and overdrafts 16.0 1.9
Finance charges on lease obligations – 0.1

16.0 2.0

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts is stated after capitalising £0.3 million (2000 – £1.6 million) of interest on
expenditure on capital projects.
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7 Taxation
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2001 31 March 2000
£m £m

The taxation charge comprises:
Corporation tax at 30% (2000 – 30%) 8.7 7.9
Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.5) (0.5)
Deferred tax 1.1 3.3
Share of joint ventures 0.9 1.7

10.2 12.4

The tax credit on operating exceptional items is £6.0 million.

8 Dividends
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2001 31 March 2000
£m £m

Interim dividend paid of 4.50p (2000 – 4.15p) per share 5.2 4.6
Proposed final dividend of 9.60p (2000 – 8.85p) per share 11.2 9.7

16.4 14.3

The proposed final dividend will be paid on 9 August 2001 to shareholders on the register on 15 June 2001.

9 Earnings per share
Earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2001 have been calculated on the basis of the profit for the year of £23.2 million
(2000 – £31.6 million) and the weighted average number of shares in issue, totalling 114,725,515 (2000 – 109,758,644). 

The shares held by the Dairy Crest Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust (“ESOP”) and the Dairy Crest Qualifying Employee
Share Ownership Trust (“QUEST”) are included in the Group balance sheet and have therefore been excluded from the weighted
average number of shares in issue used in the calculation of earnings per share in accordance with FRS14.

To show earnings per share on a consistent basis, adjusted earnings per share have been calculated as follows:
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2001 31 March 2000
£m £m

Profit for the year 23.2 31.6
Goodwill amortisation 1.5 0.3
Operating exceptional items (net of taxation) 15.9 –

Adjusted earnings 40.6 31.9

Adjusted earnings per share 35.4p 29.1p

Diluted earnings per share have been calculated on the basis of earnings for the year of £23.2 million (2000 – £31.6 million) and
average number of shares of 118,657,000 (2000 – 113,213,900) representing the weighted average number of shares totalling
114,725,515 (2000 – 109,758,644) and the dilutive effect of options amounting to 3,931,485 (2000 – 3,455,256).

The adjusted earnings per share for 2000 have been restated to exclude the impact of goodwill amortisation of £0.3 million.
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10 Remuneration of directors and employees
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2001 31 March 2000
£m £m

Directors
Salaries and benefits 1,397 1,073
Bonuses 579 –
Fees to non-executive directors 186 125

Emoluments 2,162 1,198

Payments to defined contribution pension schemes 608 310

Long-term incentive scheme awards – 1997 scheme 317 402

Gain on exercise of sharesave options – 9

Highest paid director
Salary, benefits and bonus 546 307

Payments to defined contribution scheme 300 116

Long-term incentive scheme award – 1997 scheme 104 130

Further information relating to directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2001 is provided in the Report of the Board on
directors’ remuneration on page 23.

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2001 31 March 2000

Number Number

Employees
Average number of employees:
Production 3,338 2,206
Sales, distribution and administration 4,452 1,681

Total employees 7,790 3,887

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2001 31 March 2000

£m £m

Remuneration of employees, including directors:
Wages and salaries 158.9 74.7
Social security costs 12.1 5.9
Other pension costs 2.4 0.1

173.4 80.7

Remuneration excludes redundancy costs included in Note 5 – operating exceptional items.

11 Intangible assets
Goodwill

Group £m

Cost
At 1 April 2000 7.3
Acquisitions (Note 24) 33.2

At 31 March 2001 40.5

Amortisation
At 1 April 2000 0.4
Amortisation charge 1.5

At 31 March 2001 1.9

Net book value at 31 March 2001 38.6

Net book value at 31 March 2000 6.9

Goodwill is being amortised on a straight line basis over its estimated economic life of 20 years.
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12 Tangible assets
Land and Plant and Assets in course
buildings equipment of construction Total

Group £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 April 2000 104.9 228.0 12.0 344.9
Acquisitions 80.3 89.7 0.3 170.3
Additions 6.2 14.3 13.6 34.1
Interest capitalised (Note 6) – 0.3 – 0.3
Disposals (4.3) (21.6) – (25.9)
Transfers and reclassifications 1.9 10.0 (11.9) –
Exchange differences – (0.4) – (0.4)

At 31 March 2001 189.0 320.3 14.0 523.3

Depreciation
At 1 April 2000 43.2 142.4 – 185.6
Charge 4.5 30.8 – 35.3
Impairment 1.8 6.8 – 8.6
Disposals (3.8) (21.0) – (24.8)
Exchange differences – (0.2) – (0.2)

At 31 March 2001 45.7 158.8 – 204.5

Net book value at 31 March 2001 143.3 161.5 14.0 318.8

Net book value at 31 March 2000 61.7 85.6 12.0 159.3

The aggregate amount of interest capitalised in the cost of tangible fixed assets is £2.2 million (2000 – £1.9 million).

2001 2000
£m £m

Net book value of land and buildings comprises:
Freehold 132.6 58.1
Leasehold – over 50 years 5.0 3.2

– under 50 years 5.7 0.4

143.3 61.7

Capitalised leases included in plant and equipment comprise:
Cost 42.8 45.7
Depreciation (40.8) (42.4)

Net book value 2.0 3.3

13 Investments
Shares held Shares held
by QUEST by ESOP Total

Group £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 April 2000 4.5 3.9 8.4
Additions – 2.5 2.5
Disposals (0.2) (0.5) (0.7)

At 31 March 2001 4.3 5.9 10.2

Provision
At 1 April 2000 1.9 0.9 2.8
Disposals (0.2) (0.5) (0.7)

At 31 March 2001 1.7 0.4 2.1

Net book value at 31 March 2001 2.6 5.5 8.1

Net book value at 31 March 2000 2.6 3.0 5.6
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13 Investments (continued)
Shares in Loans to

Shares held Shares held subsidiary subsidiary
by QUEST by ESOP undertakings undertakings Total

Company £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 April 2000 4.5 3.9 96.5 – 104.9
Additions – 2.5 144.8 250.0 397.3
Disposals (0.2) (0.5) (144.8) – (145.5)

At 31 March 2001 4.3 5.9 96.5 250.0 356.7

Provision
At 1 April 2000 1.9 0.9 – – 2.8
Disposals (0.2) (0.5) – – (0.7)

At 31 March 2001 1.7 0.4 – – 2.1

Net book value at 31 March 2001 2.6 5.5 96.5 250.0 354.6

Net book value at 31 March 2000 2.6 3.0 96.5 – 102.1

At 31 March 2001 the Dairy Crest Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust (“QUEST”) held 1,651,522 shares 
(2000 – 1,726,291 shares) in the Company at a cost of £4.3 million (2000 – £4.5 million). The QUEST was established in
November 1997 to meet certain future obligations of the Group including shares awarded under the Dairy Crest Sharesave Scheme.
During the year 74,769 shares were issued following exercises under the Sharesave Scheme. The market value of the shares held 
by the QUEST which are listed on the London Stock Exchange was £3.8 million at 31 March 2001 (2000 – £2.5 million).

At 31 March 2001 the Dairy Crest Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust (“ESOP”) held 2,637,938 shares (2000 – 1,727,737
shares) in the Company at a cost of £6.0 million (2000 – £3.9 million). The ESOP was established in August 1996 to purchase
shares in the Company in order to hedge certain future obligations of the Group including shares awarded under the Dairy Crest
Long Term Incentive Share Plan (“LTISP”) and the Dairy Crest Executive Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”). During the year the
Trustee of the ESOP purchased 1,152,500 shares in the Company at a cost of £2.5 million. The market value of the shares held 
by the ESOP which are listed on the London Stock Exchange was £6.1 million at 31 March 2001 (2000 – £2.5 million).

During the year Dairy Crest Group plc subscribed for £250 million of Discounted Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock 2030 
(“Loan Stock”) from Dairy Crest Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary, used as consideration for the transfer of the net investment
relating to the Unigate dairy and cheese business acquired in July 2000. At the option of Dairy Crest Group plc, the Loan Stock
may be converted into 2,750,000 preference shares with a nominal value of £100 each on or after 30 September 2002.

At 31 March 2001 the principal subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures were:
Percentage of

ordinary share
Business capital held

Subsidiary undertakings:
Dairy Crest Limited Manufacture of dairy products 100%
Wexford Creamery Limited* Trading in dairy products 80%
Philpot Dairy Products Limited* Trading in dairy products 100%
Millway Dairy Crest Limited* Manufacture, marketing and distribution of Stilton 100%
Unigate Dairies Limited* Trading in dairy products (dormant from 30 December 2000) 100%
Joint ventures:
Yoplait Dairy Crest Limited* Manufacture, marketing and distribution of fresh dairy products 49%
The English Butter Marketing 
Company Limited* Promotion of the “Country Life” brand of butter 50%

The principal place of operation and country of incorporation of all subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures is England except for
Wexford Creamery Limited which is in Ireland.

*Investments are held by subsidiary undertakings.
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14 Investments in joint ventures Group
£m

At 1 April 2000 –
Reclassification from provisions at 1 April 2000 (1.5)
Acquisitions 1.3
Share of retained profits 0.8
Reclassified to provisions at 31 March 2001 0.9

At 31 March 2001 1.5

Group

2001 2000
£m £m

Share of fixed assets 11.2 12.2
Share of current assets 12.4 12.0

Share of gross assets 23.6 24.2
Share of liabilities due within one year (23.0) (25.7)
Reclassification to provisions 0.9 1.5

Share of net assets 1.5 –

Dairy Crest’s share of the net liabilities of Yoplait Dairy Crest have been shown separately in Note 19 – Provisions for liabilities and charges.

15 Stocks Group

2001 2000
£m £m

Raw materials and consumable stores 13.2 10.4
Finished goods 179.2 112.4

192.4 122.8

Finished goods include maturing cheese stocks with a cost of £146.5 million (2000 – £85.5 million).

16 Debtors Group Company

2001 2000 2001 2000
£m £m £m £m

Trade debtors 124.0 63.4 – –
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertaking – – 1.0 –
Amounts owed by joint ventures 3.0 1.0 – –
Other debtors 15.5 3.8 – –
Prepayments and accrued income 2.7 1.7 – –

145.2 69.9 1.0 –
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17 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year Group Company

2001 2000 2001 2000
£m £m £m £m

Borrowings
Bank loans and overdrafts 2.4 – – –
Loan notes 2.1 – – –
Obligations under finance leases 0.1 0.4 – –

4.6 0.4 – –

Other creditors
Trade creditors 108.8 54.0 – –
Dividends payable 11.2 9.7 11.2 9.7
Amounts payable to subsidiary undertaking – – 252.4 4.8
Corporation tax 12.2 11.6 – –
Other taxation and social security 4.5 2.2 – –
Grants 1.2 1.4 – –
Other creditors 22.0 8.7 – –
Accruals 65.3 26.7 – –

225.2 114.3 263.6 14.5

18 Creditors: amounts falling due after one year
Group

2001 2000
£m £m

Borrowings
Bank loans 246.4 51.0
Obligations under finance leases – between one and two years 0.2 0.3

246.6 51.3

Other creditors
Grants 5.4 9.1

19 Provisions for liabilities and charges
Investments in Deferred
joint ventures taxation Total

£m £m £m

Group
At 1 April 2000 1.5 10.3 11.8
Acquisitions – 13.3 13.3
Profit and loss account charge – 1.1 1.1
Reclassification from investments (Note 14) (0.6) – (0.6)

At 31 March 2001 0.9 24.7 25.6

2001 2000
£m £m

Group
The potential deferred tax liability which is fully provided for comprises:
Capital allowances 24.8 12.6
Other timing differences (0.1) (2.3)

24.7 10.3
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20 Share capital
The Company has an authorised share capital of 146,400,000 ordinary shares of 25 pence each, of which 120,233,265 are issued
and fully paid (2000 – 113,600,628).

In July 2000 6,291,904 shares of 25 pence each were issued at a premium of £10.0 million as part of the consideration for the
purchase of Unigate’s dairy and cheese business.

During the year ended 31 March 2001 340,733 shares of 25 pence each were issued at a premium of £0.5 million for an aggregate
consideration of £0.6 million as a result of the exercise of options under the Dairy Crest Executive Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”).

Employee share schemes:

Options have been granted under the “ESOS” to subscribe for the Company’s shares which can be exercised up to 2008.

The Company has also established the Dairy Crest Sharesave Scheme for eligible employees under which options can be granted 
at a discount of up to 20% of the market value of the shares at the date of grant.

The Company has also established a long-term incentive scheme, the Dairy Crest Long Term Incentive Share Plan (“LTISP”).
Awards are made to directors and senior managers consisting of the right to acquire shares for a nominal price subject to the
achievement of financial targets based on total shareholder return over a three year period versus comparator companies and 
growth in earnings per share. 

The Company has also established the ESOP and the QUEST. The shares held by the ESOP set out in Note 13 are available to
satisfy awards under LTISP and ESOS and the shares held by the QUEST set out in Note 13 are available to satisfy awards under
the Sharesave Schemes. In aggregate the Company has granted options over the unissued share capital at prices between 151.2 pence
and 341.5 pence exercisable at varying dates up to 14 December 2008 as follows:

Sharesave
ESOS Scheme

Number Number

Options outstanding at beginning of the year 3,713,244 2,188,939
Options granted during the year – –
Options exercised during the year (340,733) (74,769)
Options lapsed during the year (7,052) (190,685)

Options outstanding at end of the year 3,365,459 1,923,485

21 Equity reserves
Share Merger Profit and loss

premium reserve account
£m £m £m

Group
At 1 April 2000 7.3 55.9 89.8
Issue of shares 10.5 – –
Retained profit for the year – – 6.8
Exchange differences – – (0.7)

At 31 March 2001 17.8 55.9 95.9

The cumulative amount of goodwill charged against the merger reserve is £86.8 million (2000 – £86.8 million).

Share Profit and loss
premium account

£m £m

Company
At 1 April 2000 7.3 52.0
Issue of shares 10.5 –
Profit for the year after dividends – (7.7)

At 31 March 2001 17.8 44.3

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, no separate profit and loss account is presented for the Company. 
The profit for the year dealt with in the accounts of the Company is £8.7 million (2000 – £50.0 million) (including dividends
received from subsidiary undertakings of £10.0 million (2000 – £52.5 million)).
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22 Reconciliation of movements in Group shareholders’ funds
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2001 31 March 2000
£m £m

Profit for the year 23.2 31.6
Dividends (16.4) (14.3)

Retained profit for the year 6.8 17.3
Exchange differences (0.7) –
Shares issued 12.2 0.1

Movement in the year 18.3 17.4
At beginning of the year 181.4 164.0

At end of the year 199.7 181.4

23 Cash flow statement
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2001 31 March 2000
£m £m

(a) Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities
Operating profit for Group and share of joint ventures 50.4 46.8
Non-cash items:

Operating exceptional items 6.8 –
Depreciation 35.3 17.3
Goodwill amortisation 1.5 0.3
Release of grants (1.4) (1.5)
Share of profits of joint ventures (3.6) (5.7)

Decrease in stocks 28.0 1.5
Increase in debtors (8.6) (2.9)
Decrease in creditors (1.8) (3.5)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 106.6 52.3

Cash flows on operating exceptional items amount to £14.7 million and relate principally to the integration of acquisitions.

At Foreign exchange At
1 April 2000 Cash flow Acquisitions differences 31 March 2001

£m £m £m £m £m

(b) Analysis of net debt
Cash at bank and in hand 3.8 1.1 – – 4.9
Short-term bank borrowings – (2.4) – – (2.4)
Loan notes issued – – (2.1) – (2.1)
Long-term bank borrowings (51.0) (195.2) – (0.2) (246.4)
Finance leases (0.7) 0.4 – – (0.3)

Total (47.9) (196.1) (2.1) (0.2) (246.3)

(c) Major non-cash transactions
Part of the consideration for the purchase of Unigate’s dairy and cheese business and Somerset & Wilts Dairy Limited comprised
shares and loan notes respectively. Further details of these acquisitions are set out in Note 24.
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24 Purchase of businesses
During the year ended 31 March 2001, business acquisitions and consideration comprised:

Other 
Unigate dairy and cheese acquisition (a) acquisitions (b)

Book value Accounting Other fair value Book value
on acquisition policy alignment Revaluations adjustments Fair value on acquisition

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Goodwill 16.4 – (16.4) – – –
Tangible fixed assets 172.9 – 2.6 (5.5) 170.0 0.3
Investments in joint venture 1.3 – – – 1.3 –
Current assets 158.0 (0.5) – 2.4 159.9 5.9
Current liabilities (98.6) – – (0.4) (99.0) (5.5)
Deferred taxation (7.8) – – (5.5) (13.3) –
Equity minority interests (2.3) – – – (2.3) –

239.9 (0.5) (13.8) (9.0) 216.6 0.7

Consideration
Cash (including fees of £6.6m) 233.9 2.9
Shares issued 11.6 –
Loan notes – 2.1

245.5 5.0

Goodwill 28.9 4.3

(a) On 1 July 2000 the Group acquired Unigate’s dairy and cheese business for a consideration of £245.5 million. The book values 
of the assets and liabilities acquired have been taken from the management accounts of the underlying businesses at 1 July 2000. 
The accounting policy alignment relates to an adjustment of £0.5 million to revise stocks. Revaluations relate to the write down of
goodwill of £16.4 million in accordance with accounting standards and an increase in land and buildings of £2.6 million to reflect
their fair values. Other fair value adjustments principally relate to a reduction in plant and equipment of £5.5 million to reflect 
their net recoverable amounts, an increase in the provision for deferred taxation of £5.5 million and an increase in pension assets of
£2.8 million.

The activities of the acquired business have been progressively integrated into the Group since acquisition. As a result of this integration
the results of the acquired business are not separately identifiable. The directors estimate that the acquired business contributed
approximately £500 million to Group turnover and approximately £28 million to Group operating profit before operating
exceptional items. In view of the extent of estimation, it is not possible to analyse the acquired business’ turnover and operating
profit between Consumer Foods and Food Services.

The consolidated results of Unigate’s dairy and cheese business for the 53 weeks ended 1 April 2000 and the period from 2 April 2000
to 1 July 2000 are summarised as follows:

2 April to 53 weeks ended
1 July 2000 1 April 2000

£m £m

Turnover 178.0 718.9

Total operating profit 8.8 43.0
Exceptional items and goodwill amortisation (0.3) (3.4)

Profit before taxation 8.5 39.6
Taxation (2.4) (12.0)

Profit for the period 6.1 27.6

(b) The following are included within other acquisitions. There were no fair value adjustments to the net assets acquired for 
these acquisitions.

In May 2000 the Group acquired the trade and assets of a milk business which traded in Southern England for £2.0 million. 
The fair value of the net assets acquired was £0.7 million resulting in goodwill on acquisition of £1.3 million.

In March 2001 the Group acquired the shares in Somerset & Wilts Dairy Limited, an organic milk business, for consideration 
of £2.8 million. £2.1 million of this consideration is payable in loan notes. The fair value of the net assets acquired, including cash
of £0.6 million, was £nil resulting in goodwill on acquisition of £2.8 million.

During the year the Group acquired the goodwill of a number of bottled milk buyers for consideration of £0.2 million.
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25 Contingent liabilities
Trading guarantees
The Group has provided guarantees and counter-indemnities which totalled £28.4 million at 31 March 2001 (2000 – £20.3 million).
This includes a guarantee for the liabilities amounting to £15.1 million (as defined in Section 5(c)(iii) of the Companies (Amendment)
Act 1986, Republic of Ireland) of Wexford Creamery Limited, an Irish registered subsidiary, for the financial year ended 31 March
2001. As a result Wexford is exempt from filing its statutory accounts with the Registrar of Companies in Ireland, under the
provisions of Section 17 of the Companies (Amendment) Act 1986. 

The Company has provided guarantees to its bankers amounting to £246.4 million at 31 March 2001 (2000 – £51.0 million) and to the
bankers of one of its joint ventures of £10.8 million (2000 – £12.7 million).

26 Capital commitments
Group

2001 2000
£m £m

The following future capital expenditure had been contracted at 31 March 42.0 10.5

27 Operating lease rentals
Land and Land and
buildings Other buildings Other

2001 2001 2000 2000
£m £m £m £m

Rentals payable by the Group during following year 
which relate to commitments expiring:
Within one year 0.1 1.3 0.1 1.5
Between one and five years 0.7 7.3 0.4 2.4
After five years 0.3 1.6 0.2 2.5

1.1 10.2 0.7 6.4

28 Pensions
At 31 March 2001 permanent staff of Dairy Crest Group plc and its subsidiary undertakings were eligible for membership of the
Dairy Crest Group Pension Fund (“the Dairy Crest Fund”).

The Dairy Crest Fund, which is of the defined benefits type, is funded by contributions from employees and the Group.

An actuarial assessment of the Dairy Crest Fund was carried out as at 30 June 2000 by the Fund’s Actuary using the projected unit
method. This included allowance for the forthcoming bulk transfer of assets and liabilities in respect of approximately 3,000 former
employees of Unigate Dairies.

The principal actuarial assumptions adopted for the assessment were that, over the long term, the annual rate of return on the
investments would be 2.5% higher than the increase in pensionable pay, 4.1% higher than the annual increase in present and 
future pensions in payment and 4.75% higher than the normal level of annual net dividend yield receivable.

At the date of the assessment, the market value of the Dairy Crest fund assets, including allowance for the bulk transfer from the
Unigate Group Pension Scheme, amounted to £559 million. The actuarial value of the assets was sufficient to cover 125% of the 
value of the members’ accrued benefits.

The next actuarial valuation of the Dairy Crest Fund will be carried out as at 31 March 2001.

The net pension debtor at 31 March 2001 was £3.9 million (2000 – £nil).
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29 Financial instruments
An explanation of the Group’s objectives and policies relating to financial instruments is set out in the Financial Review on 
page 17. Financial instruments other than derivatives comprise cash, overdrafts and bank loans. Short-term debtors and creditors 
are excluded. 

The Group finances its operations through issued share capital, retained profit and bank loans. Long-term bank loans amounting to
£246.4 million represent drawdowns under the Group’s £425 million revolving credit facility arranged in May 2000 to finance the
acquisition of the Unigate dairy and cheese business. This replaces the £100 million revolving credit facility held at 31 March 2000.
All bank loans and overdrafts are unsecured.

Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets
The group has no financial assets, other than short-term debtors and cash at bank and in hand. Cash at bank and in hand is
predominantly denominated in sterling and earns interest at floating rates.

Financial liabilities
After taking into account the interest rate contracts entered into by the Group, the interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities was:

Floating rate Fixed rate
financial liabilities financial liabilities Total

£m £m £m

Currency
Sterling 98.8 140.0 238.8
Euro – 12.4 12.4

At 31 March 2001 98.8 152.4 251.2

Sterling 51.7 – 51.7
Euro – – –

At 31 March 2000 51.7 – 51.7

All the Group’s other creditors falling due within one year are excluded from the above table as they are short-term items.

For fixed rate financial liabilities the average interest rates and the average period for which the rates are fixed were:
Weighted average

Weighted average period for which
interest rate the rate is fixed

Currency
Sterling 6.40% 24 months
Euro 5.24% 16 months

At 31 March 2001 6.30% 23.9 months

Currency exposures
As at 31 March 2001 and 31 March 2000, after taking into account the effects of forward foreign exchange contracts the group had 
no currency exposures.

Maturity of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities was:

£m £m

In one year or less, or on demand 4.6 –
In more than one year but not more than two years 40.1 51.0
In more than two years but not more than five years 206.5 –

251.2 51.0

Borrowing facilities
Committed undrawn borrowing facilities available at 31 March 2001 amount to £178.6 million (2000 – £49 million). £40 million 
(2000 – £49 million) of the undrawn facility expires in one to two years and £138.6 million expires in over two years.
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29 Financial instruments continued
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The book values and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 March 2001 were:

Book values Fair values
£m £m

Primary financial instruments held or issued to finance the Group’s operation:
Short-term financial liabilities and current portion of long-term liabilities 4.6 4.6
Long-term borrowings 246.6 246.6
Financial assets (4.9) (4.9)
Derivative financial instruments:
Interest rate swaps – 3.0
Forward foreign currency contracts – (0.4)

246.3 248.9

The fair values of the interest rate swaps and foreign currency contracts have been determined by reference to prices available from
the markets in which the instruments are traded.

As indicated in the table above there were no material differences between the book values and the fair values of the Group’s
financial assets and liabilities at 31 March 2000. There were no material unrecognised or deferred gains or losses on forward exchange
contracts or interest rate swaps at 31 March 2000 or 31 March 2001.

The Group is exposed to loss in the event of non-performance by the counterparties of the above forward exchange contracts 
and interest rate swaps but non-performance is not expected to occur because all counterparties have a long-term AA credit rating 
or better.

30 Related party transactions
Yoplait Dairy Crest Limited, a joint venture of Dairy Crest Group plc, incurred fees of £8.3 million (2000 – £3.9 million) from 
the Group for sales and distribution activities carried out on its behalf. 

During the year ended 31 March 2001, Ashton Associates, a partnership between Mr and Mrs S M D Oliver, received £17,000
from the Group for administration and secretarial services.

sferred with debt of £100 million.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
for the financial statements

The directors are required by the Companies Act 1985 to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the
Group for the financial year.

The directors consider that, in preparing the financial statements on pages 28 to 46, the Company has used the going concern
concept and appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates, and that all accounting standards which they consider to be applicable have been followed.

The directors have responsibility for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Group and which enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.

The directors have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

In adopting a going concern basis in the financial statements the directors, after making enquiries, have a reasonable expectation
that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
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Auditors’ report to the members of Dairy Crest Group plc

We have audited the financial statements on pages 28 to 46 which have been prepared under the
historical cost convention and on the basis of the accounting policies set out on pages 31 and 32.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report. As described on page 46, this
includes responsibility for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
United Kingdom law and accounting standards. Our responsibilities, as independent auditors, 
are established in the United Kingdom by statute, the Auditing Practices Board, the Listing Rules
of the Financial Services Authority and by our profession’s ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and
are properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act. We also report to you if, in our
opinion, the Directors’ report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the Company has
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit, or if the information specified by law or the Listing Rules regarding
directors’ remuneration and transactions with the Company is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance statement on page 20 reflects the Company’s
compliance with the seven provisions of the Combined Code specified for our review by the
Listing Rules, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s
statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness
of either the Company’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report, including the Corporate
Governance statement, and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial 
statements. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and the
Group, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which
we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2001 and of the profit of the Group for the year 
then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

Ernst & Young 
Registered Auditor
London
4 June 2001

4369 Dary C Accounts 7/6/01  18/6/01  3:49 pm  Page 47



48 Dairy Crest Annual Report 2001

Group financial history

Pro forma Actual Actual Actual Actual

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001
Profit and loss account summary £m £m £m £m £m

Turnover by segment:
Consumer Foods 460 475 479 494 785
Food Services 327 313 295 300 522

Group including share of joint ventures 787 788 774 794 1,307
Share of joint ventures’ turnover (20) (30) (77) (77) (79)

Group 767 758 697 717 1,228

Operating profit by segment:
Consumer Foods 27 30 32 33 41
Food Services 13 13 16 14 33
Acquisition reorganisation costs – – (1) – (20)
Other operating exceptionals – – – – (2)
Amortisation of goodwill – – – – (1)

Total operating profit 40 43 47 47 51
Exceptional items (1) – 2 – –
Interest (3) (2) (3) (3) (17)

Profit before tax 36 41 46 44 34

Balance sheet summary
Operating assets:

Consumer Foods 139 151 176 213 376
Food Services 52 41 52 48 120

Total operating assets 191 192 228 261 496

Tax and dividend creditors (23) (28) (30) (32) (48)
Net borrowings (22) (21) (34) (48) (246)

Net assets 146 143 164 181 202
Minority interests – – – – (2)

Shareholders’ funds 146 143 164 181 200

Cash flow summary
Generated from operating activities 38 55 55 52 107
Dividends from joint ventures 1 2 1 5 1
Fixed asset investment (net of grants) (11) (17) (36) (47) (29)

28 40 20 10 79
Interest paid (2) (3) (2) (4) (16)
Taxation paid (8) (9) (9) (10) (11)
Dividends paid (4) (11) (12) (14) (15)
Purchase of businesses – (5) (7) – (236)
Investment in Yoplait Dairy Crest Limited – (15) – – –
Other investing activities

(principally asset disposals) 6 4 3 4 2

20 1 (7) (14) (197)
Transactions with the RMMB (45) – – – –

Net cash (outflow)/inflow (25) 1 (7) (14) (197)
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Shareholders’ information

Registrar
If you have an enquiry concerning your shareholding in Dairy Crest Group plc, please contact the Company’s registrar, 
Lloyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6DA. Telephone: 0870 6003970. 
Lloyds TSB Registrars provide general information on their own website, www.lloydstsb-registrars.co.uk

Shareholder enquiries
For general shareholder enquiries please contact the Company Secretary’s department, Dairy Crest Group plc, 
Dairy Crest House, Portsmouth Road, Surbiton, Surrey KT6 5QL. Telephone: 020 8910 4000.

Share dealing service
If you do not have share dealing arrangements in place, Dairy Crest has a low cost share dealing service arranged 
by Hoare Govett Limited. Shareholders wishing to use the service should contact Hoare Govett at 250 Bishopsgate, 
London EC2M 4AA. Telephone: 020 7678 8300.

Analysis of ordinary shareholders at 1 June 2001
Holders Shares Number
Number % 000 %

Category
Individuals and other holders 27,295 96.26 51,570 42.89
Insurance companies, pension funds, banks, nominees and 

limited companies 1,060 3.74 68,663 57.11

28,355 100.00 120,233 100.00

Size of holdings
Up to 5,000 shares 25,803 91.00 35,831 29.80
5,001 – 20,000 shares 2,349 8.28 17,746 14.76
20,001 – 100,000 shares 124 0.44 5,305 4.41
Over 100,000 shares 79 0.28 61,351 51.03

28,355 100.00 120,233 100.00

General information
General information about Dairy Crest can be found on our corporate website, www.dairycrest.co.uk
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Notice of Fifth Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the FIFTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the
Company will be held at the Chartered Accountants’ Hall, Moorgate Place, London EC2P 2BJ 
on Thursday 19 July 2001 at 11.00 am for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business
1 To receive and adopt the Company’s annual accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2001,

together with the Directors’ report and Auditors’ report on those accounts.

2 To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2001 of 9.60 pence per share.

3 To reappoint Mr P Allanson-Bailey as a director of the Company.

4 To reappoint Mr C D Roberts as a director of the Company.

5 To reappoint Mr T H Jones as a director of the Company.

6 To reappoint Mr S M D Oliver as a director of the Company.

7 To reappoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditors, to hold office from the conclusion of this meeting 
until the conclusion of the next general meeting at which accounts are laid before the members,
and to authorise the directors to determine their remuneration.

Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions, of which resolution 8 will be proposed
as an Ordinary Resolution and resolutions 9 and 10 will be proposed as Special Resolutions:

8 That the Dairy Crest Long Term Incentive Share Plan be amended in accordance with the
Schedule of Amendments included in the Explanatory Notes attached to this Notice of Annual
General Meeting and that the directors be authorised to make such amendments and additions
thereto as they may consider necessary or desirable to carry the amendment into effect.

Special Resolutions
9 That, pursuant to Article 41 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company be generally

and unconditionally authorised, in accordance with Section 166 of the Companies Act 1985 as
amended (the “Act”), to make market purchases (within the meaning of Section 163(3) of the Act)
of ordinary shares of 25 pence each in the capital of the Company (“Ordinary Shares”) provided that:

• the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be acquired is 18,022,966;

• the minimum price which may be paid for any such Ordinary Share is 25 pence (exclusive of
expenses and appropriate taxes);

• the maximum price (exclusive of expenses and appropriate taxes) which may be paid for any
such Ordinary Shares shall be not more than 5% above the average of the middle market values
for an Ordinary Share in the Company as taken from the London Stock Exchange Daily
Official List for the five business days immediately preceding the date of purchase; and

• the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company (except in relation to a purchase of Ordinary Shares the contract for
which was concluded before such time and which will or may be executed wholly or partly
after such time).

10 That, in substitution for all existing authorities, the directors be given general power, in accordance
with clause 4(C) of the Company’s Articles of Association, to allot equity securities (within the meaning
of section 94(2) of the Act) for cash up to a maximum nominal amount of £1,502,915 (“the section
89 amount”) provided that such power shall expire five years after the date of the passing of this
resolution.

By order of the Board
R J Newton, Secretary
11 June 2001
Registered Office: Dairy Crest House, Portsmouth Road, Surbiton, Surrey KT6 5QL.

THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT
AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE
ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt
as to what action you should take, 
you are recommended to seek your own
personal financial advice immediately
from your stockbroker, bank manager,
solicitor, accountant or other independent
financial adviser duly authorised under
the Financial Services Act 1986.

If you have already sold or otherwise
transferred all of your Dairy Crest Shares,
please send this document as soon as
possible to the purchaser or transferee, 
or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent
through whom the sale or transfer was
effected for delivery to the purchaser 
or transferee. 
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Notes
1 A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is also entitled to appoint one or more proxies to

attend and, on a poll, vote instead of him/her. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 

2 You may use the form of proxy enclosed with this Notice to appoint a proxy to attend the meeting on
your behalf. To be effective, the form of proxy and any authority under which it is executed (or a certified
copy of such authority) must reach the offices of the Company’s registrar, Lloyds TSB Registrars, The
Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6US, not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the
meeting. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not preclude shareholders from attending and
voting in person at the meeting.

3 A partnership the name of which is entered in the register of members may, by any two persons
purporting to be partners in the partnership, authorise a person to act as its representative at the meeting.
Such a representative shall be entitled to exercise the same rights as an individual member in respect of the
shares to which the authorisation relates.

4 In accordance with Regulation 34 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 1995, the Company
specifies that only those shareholders appearing in the register of members as at 6.00 pm on 17 July 2001
(“the specified time”) shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting in respect of the number of shares
registered in their name at that time. Changes to the register of members after the specified time shall be
disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

5 A copy of the Rules of the Dairy Crest Long Term Incentive Share Plan, together with the proposed
amendments referred to in Resolution 8, may be inspected at the offices of Clifford Chance Limited
Liability Partnership, 200 Aldersgate Street, London EC1A 4JJ during normal business hours on 
any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted) from the date of this Notice until 
the date of the Annual General Meeting, and at the Chartered Accountants’ Hall, Moorgate Place,
London EC2P 2BJ for fifteen minutes prior to, and during, the Annual General Meeting itself.

Explanatory notes
Resolution 1
The directors of the Company have a duty to present to shareholders in general meeting the annual
accounts, together with the directors’ report and the report of the auditors. The Auditors’ report can 
be found on page 47.

Resolution 2
The directors recommend that a final dividend of 9.6 pence per share be paid on 9 August 2001 to
shareholders on the register on 15 June 2001. Payment of the final dividend will bring the total dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2001 to 14.1 pence per share.

Resolutions 3-6
The Articles of Association specify that, in certain circumstances, directors must retire and seek
reappointment by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Mr Allanson-Bailey and Mr Roberts were appointed to the Board since the last Annual General Meeting
and must therefore retire in accordance with Article 76.

Mr Fletcher, Mr Jones and Mr Oliver retire by rotation. However, Mr Fletcher has decided to retire 
from the Board with effect from the close of the Annual General Meeting and he is therefore not seeking
re-election. Mr Allanson-Bailey, Mr Roberts, Mr Jones and Mr Oliver, are all eligible for re-election and
these resolutions seek their reappointment.

Biographical information on each of these directors, including their membership of Board Committees, 
is given on page 19.

Resolution 7
As stated in the directors’ report on page 27 this resolution proposes the reappointment of 
Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s auditors.

Resolution 8
Resolution 8 relates to a proposed amendment to the Rules of the Dairy Crest Long Term Incentive
Share Plan (“the Plan”), following a revision to the Guidelines of the Association of British Insurers,
published on 1 March 2001. This amendment to the Rules of the Plan requires shareholders’ approval.
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Notice of Fifth Annual General Meeting continued

Explanatory notes continued
Resolution 8
The Rules of the Plan, which were based on the previous ABI Guidelines, currently do not allow
awards to be granted to any individual who is within 2 years of retirement. When employees retire,
they may exercise an award during the 12 month period following their retirement but only if the
relevant performance targets have been met. The extent to which the award may be exercised also
depends on the performance achieved during the relevant period and is pro-rated to take account
of the shorter length of service.

The proposed amendment to the Rules of the Plan, which reflects the revision to the ABI Guidelines,
would allow awards to be granted to individuals who are due to retire more than six months after
the date of grant. If their employment ceases within two years of the date of grant, the award may
only be exercised in the six month period from the date of cessation. Exercise of awards will continue
to depend on the achievement of the specified performance targets.

A copy of the full Rules of the Plan will be available for inspection in the period leading up to the
Annual General Meeting and at the Meeting itself. There follows a full schedule of the proposed
amendments, as referred to in Resolution 8.

Schedule of Amendments
It is proposed that the Dairy Crest Long Term Incentive Share Plan (“the Plan”) be amended as follows:

(i) by the replacement of sub-rule 2.7 with the following new sub-rule 2.7 namely:

“No Award shall be granted under the Plan to a person within the six months immediately
preceding the date on which he is bound to retire in accordance with the terms of his contract
of employment or his anticipated retirement date (if earlier).”

(ii) by the addition of the following in sub-rule 4.3.1 after “or retirement”, namely

“more than two years after the date of grant of the Award”

(iii) by the addition of the following sub-rule 4.3.2 and re-numbering of the existing sub-rule
4.3.2 as sub-rule 4.3.3:

“If he so ceases by reason of retirement more than 6 months but less than two years after 
the date of grant of the Award the Option shall be exercisable within 6 months after him so
ceasing and Allocated Shares shall be transferred as soon as reasonably practicable following 
the date of cessation, but only in both cases to the extent permitted by sub-rule 4.3.1”.

Resolution 9
The authority for the Company to make purchases of up to 14.99% of its issued share capital, granted
last year, will expire at the close of the Annual General Meeting. This resolution seeks renewal of
that authority, again limited to a maximum number of shares which amounts to approximately
14.99% of the Company’s current issued share capital. The authority has not been used to date
and would only be exercised if the directors believed that a repurchase of shares would result in 
an increase in earnings per share and would be in the best interest of shareholders as a whole.

Resolution 10
At the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 2 June 2000, the directors were granted authority to
exercise the power to allot shares for the general purposes of the Company. Shares may be allotted
up to a maximum nominal value of £12,666,405. The authority remains valid, unless previously
renewed, revoked or substituted, up to 1 June 2005.

In 1999, the directors were also granted the power to disapply pre-emption rights – that is, to allot
equity shares for cash without first being required to offer them to existing shareholders, up to a
maximum nominal amount of £1,419,000. Since that date, the issued share capital of the Company
has increased. Resolution 10 therefore seeks renewal of the power of the directors to disapply pre-
emption rights up to a maximum nominal amount of £1,502,915 which is approximately equivalent
to 5% of the Company’s current issued share capital. If granted, the directors would have this power
for a period of five years.

The directors believe that the resolutions are in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole and unanimously recommend that shareholders should vote in
favour of all resolutions.
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Visit our website at www.dairycrest.co.uk
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